



The Impact of Water Weaponization on Human Security: A Case Study in the Sahel

July 2023 University of Glasgow: 2686684D University of Trento: 233474 Charles University: 81920313

Presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of International Master in Security, Intelligence and Strategic Studies

Word count: 22.166 Supervisor: Dr. Alessandra Russo Date of Submission: 25-7-2023



Abstract

Climate change and armed conflict are two concepts that are increasingly linked together in today's world, and even more so in regions where natural resources are already scarce to begin with. This research aims to give perspective on one of the phenomena that takes advantage of both armed conflict as well as climate change: water weaponization. King's (2023) framework of water weaponization is used to analyse whether this has an impact on the human security in the Sahel region in Africa. The human security theory is used in order to provide a much-needed personal perspective of this increasingly popular nexus. Through discourse and content analysis on NGO output, this research strives towards answering the following question: How does the weaponization of climate change impact human security in the Sahel according to NGOs? After a thorough analysis of the documents, it is concluded that food security seems to be most impacted by water weaponization in the Sahel. However, since the scholarship on the topic is still very limited, more research is needed in order to draw more valid conclusions.

Table of Contents	
1. Introduction	
2. Literature Review	6
2.1 Pre-Conflict and Climate Change	7
2.2 Ongoing Conflict and Climate Change	9
2.2.1 International Law	11
2.2.2 Islamic Law	
2.3 Water Weaponization	14
3. Theoretical Framework: Human Security	
3.1 Economic Security	
3.2 Food Security	24
3.3 Health Security	
3.4 Environmental Security	
3.5 Personal Security	25
3.6 Community Security	
3.7 Political Security	
4. Methodology	27
4.1 Research Question	
4.2 Case Study Selection	
4.3 Data Collection	
4.4 Analysis	
4.5 Limitations	
5. Case Studies	
5.1 Lake Chad Basin Conflict	
5.2 Central Sahel Conflict	
6. Analysis	
6.1 Non-Governmental Organisations	
6.2 Civilians	
6.3 Human Security	
6.4 Water Weaponization	
7. Discussion	
8. Conclusion	64
Reference List	
Appendix 1	
Appendix 2	

1. Introduction

The fourth largest lake in the continent of Africa, Lake Chad, is drying up. Starting in the 1960s, the lake has shrunk by approximately 90% due to intensive use of the body of water as well as the effects of climate change (Riebe & Dressel, 2021; Usigbe, 2019). While the lake's basin covers a wider area, the lake itself is located within the national borders of Cameroon, Chad, Niger and Nigeria, and the drying conditions of the lake have had a massive impact on the area (Asah, 2015; Riebe & Dressel, 2021). In part, this immense impact leading to one of the most severe humanitarian crises in the world, which can contribute to the growing insurgency led by extremist organisation Boko Haram that has brought increasing conflict to the region (Usigbe, 2019; Kusumawardani, 2017). Due to the region's high dependency on the fresh water provided by the lake, which is now largely controlled by Boko Haram, the insurgent organisation holds power over the local population dependent on the resource. This way, the climate change-induced water scarcity can be used for strategic goals set by the organisation.

On top of this crisis, the Sahel houses another one east of the Lake Chad Basin: The Central Sahel Crisis, which takes place in an area including Burkina Faso, Mali and Niger – making this the second conflict in which the people of Niger are involved. In this conflict, climate change also plays a significant role, and where in the previously described conflict the lake is drying up, there is not such a massive body of water available here to provide drinking water. The "unpredictable weather patterns, droughts, floods and land degradation" all have their added influence on the people living in the Central Sahel (UNHCR, 2020, p. 1). On top of this, the threat posed by violence and economic insecurity has caused millions of people to flee their homes, which makes them either internally displaced or refugees in neighbouring countries, leading to another humanitarian crisis (UNHCR, 2020). With these two humanitarian crises going on in the Sahel region, an area clearly heavily impacted by conflict and climate change, it is no surprise that these countries are among the ones with the lowest development indicators in the world (UNICEF, 2020). Therefore, it is important to better understand the nexus between armed conflict and climate change in order to be able to better deal with the impacts of the climate-conflict nexus. In order to provide in such an understanding, this dissertation takes this important nexus as a starting point of its research.

Climate change has, ever since its global discovery in the 1970s and 1980s, increasingly sparked interest, both politically and academically speaking (Gupta, 2010). Since then, many different actors have engaged with the concept, from academics to politicians, and from laypeople to environmental experts (Gupta, 2010, O'Neill et al., 2020). Over time, all these different people have held various opinions about the topic, but some have managed to use this phenomenon to their advantage, and among them are insurgent groups, as in the first example above. These organisations have managed to use essential natural resources, such as water, to serve their own political or military objectives in the insurgencies they lead. An example of this would be using drought and water scarcity in their recruitment campaigns and other political efforts. In order to shed more light on this phenomenon, this dissertation examines how this weaponization of water impacts human security, with a focus on one case study on the Sahel region in Africa, with specific attention for the cases of the Central Sahel crisis and the Lake Chad conflict, which is analysed through the perspective of non-governmental organisations (NGOs). This is done by analysing NGO output in light of the human security theory and King's (2023) theory on water weaponization. This research could prove useful in filling the immense gap in case studies on the personal level surrounding the climatesecurity nexus identified by Su & Gagné (2019) as well as the gap of water weaponization in general. This because the literature on the topic is incredibly limited and therefore the phenomenon is extremely understudied (King, 2023). Additionally, a clearer understanding of this impact of weaponization of natural

resources – and more specifically water – on human security could very well contribute to the development of policies better able to mitigate this impact.

The first chapter of the dissertation presents an overview of academic debates surrounding the climate-security nexus, and more specifically the relationship between climate change and armed conflict, while it works towards the main theory presented on water weaponization developed by Marcus D. King, a leading scholar on the topic (King, 2015; King & Burnell, 2017; King, 2023). In the next section, the human security will be elaborated upon in order to provide a theoretical framework that can be applied to analyse the human security in the Sahel. The following section discusses the methodological aspects of the research and aims to provide clarity regarding reliability and validity. Here, a rationalisation behind the case study selection as well as the selection of the methods of analysis will also be offered. Then, the actual analysis is executed in the way described in the methodological chapter. Examples of water weaponization are gathered from the documents published by NGOs regarding the Lake Chad conflict as well as the Central Sahel crisis, and the impact of these events will be expressed through the human security model. In order to be able to give a conclusion on this the analysis explores how human security is influenced in the Sahel. After, the analysis is thoroughly presented, the next chapter covers a short discussion, in order to present the limitations to the research, after which the final conclusion of the dissertation is given.

2. Literature Review

Since scientists discovered human-induced climate change in the late 1970s, an exponential growth can be seen in the amount of research done on this phenomenon. This research has collectively indicated that climate change intensifies vulnerability of populations and scarcity of essential natural resources (Birkman et al., 2022; Bowles et al., 2015; King & Burnell 2017; Cole, 2021). Where scarcity of resources has often led to cooperation between

nations or peoples – and this is also still the case – both scholars and politicians are now also more engaged by the negative consequences of water, or even resource, scarcity. Therefore, after the introduction of climate change to the global political agendas, and its securitization, an increasing number of academics started focussing on the climate-security nexus, and more specifically, the climate-conflict nexus. However, the focus in early research has been mainly on the causal relationship between a worsening climate and conflicts, despite many other relevant angles that could potentially be explored (Koubi et al., 2013; Nordås & Gleditsch 2015). More recently, scholars have also started researching the potential impact of a changing environment on ongoing conflicts, influencing its intensity and the changing impacts on states, militaries and the people, but the literature on these topics are still limited and overshadowed by the causal relationship mentioned above. Starting with the more widely covered topic of the causal relationship between climate and conflict, the literature slowly works towards the authors that have focussed on the relationship between ongoing conflict and a changing climate.

2.1 Pre-Conflict and Climate Change

In the early days of environmental research, the Malthusian theory on population growth, which argues that the exponentially growing global population will exceed the food production which then leads to catastrophes like war or famine, lay a foundation for the Neo-Malthusian theory (Mellos, 1988). This theory states that the diminishing supply of renewable natural resources can potentially contribute to the instigation of armed conflict in several manners (Koubi et al., 2013; Homer-Dixon, 1994). As opposed to this interpretation, the Cornucopian theory acknowledges that resource scarcity can indeed impact human life, but challenges the Neo-Malthusian scholars by arguing for a resilient population capable of adaptation to the changing environmental factors. It also states that through this adaptation, mitigation, and at times even prevention, of the consequences of increasing shortage of natural resources is possible (Koubi et al., 2013). In addition, the Cornucopian scholars, mention

that several other aspects play a significant role in the start of an armed conflict in addition to climate change (Theisen, 2008; Koubi et al., 2013; Hauge & Ellingsen, 1998).

Building on this latter theory, more recent literature has explored this causal relationship more extensively. And contrary to the earlier theories, such as the Neo-Malthusian theory, which pointed toward a positive causal relationship between scarcity of renewable natural resources and the instigation of conflict, the current loose agreement only suggests an indirect relationship, indicating social, political and economic factors to be the main drivers (Koubi et al., 2013; Homer-Dixon, 1994; Raleigh, 2010; Theisen, 2008; Hauge & Elllingsen, 1998; Van Weezel, 2019; Unfried, Kis-Katos and Poser, 2022; Schulman, 2021; Von Uexkull and Buhaug, 2021). De Châtel (2014) showcases an example of this in her Syrian case study where a four-year long drought from 2006 to 2010 decreased people's financial means even further, mainly for the rural population. Sparking the already existing grudges held against the government authorities, and leading to the first protests that eventually led to the Syrian Civil War. In this way "rural poverty [and by extension climatic events] has been argued to be a catalyst in the Syrian uprising" and therefore the conflict (Augsten et al., 2022, p. 10).

Von Lossow (2016) also identifies this as a way for water to interact with ongoing conflict, and coins this effect as the water functioning as a trigger for conflict. This is often referred to as a water conflict or water war, which "are usually driven by scarcity and competition over dwindling water resources [and] are about their management, utilisation, and distribution, accelerated by shrinking supplies and increasing demands" (Von Lossow, 2016, p. 84). While the scholarship is still undecided about whether a significant relationship between water scarcity and the initiation of a conflict can be drawn, Von Lossow (2016) gives the case of the Grand Ethiopian Renaissance Dam, sparking tensions between Ethiopia, Sudan and Egypt, as an example (Brown et al., 2007; Koubi, 2013; Van Weezel, 2019; Unfried, Kis-Katos & Poser, 2022; Von Uexkull & Buhaug, 2021). Although this has not yet led to a conflict, Sudan and Egypt have engaged in joint military drills in early 2023 (Farhat, 2023).

Contrary to these similar conclusions, there are several case studies that do point to a significant relationship between the two concepts, however, these cases often lack generalisability and can therefore not make a strong enough argument for the positive causal relationship between resource scarcity and the start of a conflict (Unfried et al., 2022). On the other side of the spectrum, there are also still scholars that do not at all find a causal relationship between the phenomena, or at most a highly limited one (Benjaminsen & Svarstad, 2021). This leads to the conclusion that while, the scholarship is still divided at times, there is more and more research being conducted pointing toward a more indirect relationship that includes political, social and economic elements to be significant as well. Taking this into account, von Uexkull and Buhaug (2021) have proposed that climate change and violence, share a vicious circle with vulnerability. According to this model, (1) vulnerability shapes the exposure and resilience towards climatic events, (2) climate related impacts increase the risk to armed conflict, and lastly (3) armed conflict influences the vulnerability of a population to potential environmental disasters. Due to the enormous impact armed conflict usually has on society, the authors mark this as the common, but not exclusive, point of entry. While this does indicate that while climate change can potentially spark an armed conflict, another relationship between climate change and armed conflict can be observed. Moving away from the causal relationship, this alternative relation refers to the impact climate change can have on armed conflict when it is ongoing.

2.2 Ongoing Conflict and Climate Change

The literature on this second conflict stage is far more limited than on the previous section, but recently Augsten, Gagné and Su (2022) delved deeper into human experiences marked by both climate change and ongoing armed conflict. In this research, they found that "climate risk has contributed to intensifying violent conflicts in parts of Western Africa" (Augsten et al., 2022, p. 7). The

authors go on to explain that within this region, the rural areas are especially vulnerable to the threat that climate change poses due to their dependency on agriculture for their livelihoods. This can easily be illustrated through the situation of the nomadic pastoralists in northern Mali in 2019 after heavy rain which led to the flooding of pastures and the destruction of both crops as well as houses (ICRC, 2020). This prevented the pastoralists from using their usual grazing fields, but due to the insecurity caused by the armed conflicts in the region travelling to further pastures was also no option. Settling in alternative locations, close to the already scarce fresh water, tensions rose with the local fishermen and farmers, who were also trying to make ends meet. In this dire situation, the pastoralists were forced to sell their animals much cheaper than usual, which heavily impacted their financial situation (ICRC, 2020). This loss of income then heavily impacts a household as this makes essentials such as food and healthcare less accessible for them.

A group that is even more vulnerable to these threats are the women in this region, often due to the traditional gender roles assigned within a household. This causes their lives to be interconnected with nature and they are, for example, responsible for the retrieval of water (Augsten et al., 2022). This way, phenomena such as water scarcity, add to the work load of the women. But even if women are farmers, the gender roles cause them to have smaller land plots or working shorter hours, which limits their income significantly and therefore also their ability to provide security for a family (Chandra et al., 2017). On top of this, when suffering from conflict and climate change, the risk of being trafficked, or a victim of violence increases significantly, making women more and more vulnerable (Augsten et al., 2022). This risk is increased due to the longer distances they have to travel, often alone, in order to retrieve food or water, and the increased violence on the roads caused by the conflict (Chandra et al., 2017; Spring, 2012).

Additionally, it is explained that the lack of strong governance, as well as state support, heavily impact the population in these circumstances negatively. In part, and most relevant to the Sahel, this is because this lack of strong government presence, gives way to, for example, insurgent groups that aim to occupy territory (Augsten et al., 2022). When such groups enter the area, this usually only increases the violence in the region, which only intensifies the issues mentioned above. An example of this is described by Sherpa (2007), who "suggests that many of the outcomes of conflict, such as gender-based violence and forced migration are rather deliberate strategies of war to destabilise families and communities" (p. 10). Another example from both Iraq and Yemen, is that water infrastructure is often targeted, decreasing the water available for either drinking, sanitation, or irrigation (ICRC, 2020).

2.2.1 International Law

Despite the lacking volume of academic literature on this topic of targeting water infrastructure, there are various international documents that regulate ongoing war, and take into account the environment as well. And while men at war have long been held to certain customs and rules, only about 150 years ago the foundation for international laws regarding war have been laid down in the form of the Lieber Code in the United States during the American Civil War (Gleick, 2019). This code was the first to protect unarmed citizens as well as certain infrastructure, such as wells, or commodities, like food (Lieber, 1863). One year later, the first Geneva Convention was developed and building on the Lieber Code, it also ensured the protection of non-combatants, but added onto this, among other things, that wounded combatants and prisoners of war should also fall under this same protection (Schindler and Toman, 1988). Several years later, the St. Petersburg Declaration was added to the international body of war legislation, and this document stated that for every action, a clear military purpose was required (St. Petersburg Declaration, 1868). Supporting this addition, the Brussels Protocol states that it is illegal to cause "any destruction or seizure of the enemy's property that is not imperatively demanded by the necessity of war" (Brussels Declaration, 1874, p. 2).

The foundation laid by these documents, was used during the important Hague Conventions and Hague Declarations of 1899 and 1907, which had the purpose of making war more humane in so far that is possible (Gleick, 2019). In article 5 these declarations also protect basic infrastructure was also taken into account, including water systems. After the Second World War, this legislation was expanded and specified in the Fourth Geneva Convention. However, the main and most detailed laws again the destruction of waterinfrastructure was implemented only in the additional protocols to the Geneva Conventions in 1977 (Gleick, 2019). These state that it is not allowed to "attack, destroy, remove or render useless objects indispensable to the survival of the civilian population, such as [...] drinking water installations and supplies and irrigation works, for the specific purpose of denying them for their sustenance value to the civilian population" (Additional Protocols II, 1977, art. 54, paragraph 2). To this, no exceptions can be made for whatever reason. Adding onto this, article 15 of Protocol II prohibits the attacks on infrastructures that contain forces that could pose threat to people, including dams and dykes. On top of these important and relatively detailed documents there are multiple others which protect not only water infrastructure but nature in itself as well (Gleick, 2019).

While these international documents do clearly state that targeting or using water systems in order to harm civilian population is prohibited in any case, and despite both government, and non-government actors being bound by these laws, these illegal acts are still taking place. For example, there are records of Islamic insurgency groups using these tactics, despite the fact that also Islamic law clearly prohibits the misuse of water as is discussed in the following section. In order to dive deeper into the misuse of water by Islamic insurgent groups, the following section discussed the role of water in Islamic law.

2.2.2 Islamic Law

Just like in international law, Islamic law contains provisions to protect the civilian population and the natural environment from destruction and violence.

According to the Quran, people must share fire, pastures as well as water with other people as these things are co-owned by all (King, 2023). For the act of charity, one can therefore share water and food with for example their elders to do a good deed. When providing people with, for example, a clean water system, so that they can benefit from this in the long term, it is said to create benefits for the giver, even after death, while hoarding water is considered a sin. This indicates that water, and the sharing of it, plays a significant role in the Islam.

More importantly, Islamic law was based on the distribution and right surrounding drinking water, and this is also where the word Sharia originates from (King, 2023). In this law, it is stated that "no legal person or ruler [...] may appropriate a river, for example, or try to sell or rent its water. Nor may tax be taken directly on such natural resources, only on the produce resulting from their exploitation" (Wilkinson, 1990, p. 60). Based on this incredible importance of water, every person has the right to enough drinking water for themselves and their animals (King, 2023). On top of this, people have the right to water their agricultural lands in order to be able to farm their crops. In addition to this incredible importance of water in Islamic law, it also plays a significant role in the day-to-day religious practice, such as praying.

As such, the use of water as a weapon by Islamist extremist groups such as Islamic State and Boko Haram is particular at the least (King, 2023). And while it does have to be mentioned that these groups do also invest in long-term provision of water, their abuse of the resource cannot be ignored. Interestingly, the groups use theology in order to justify the weaponization of water, as they portray the Day of Judgement as a flood (King, 2023).

Combining this extensive body of literature, both academic and legal, there seems to be a slight mismatch between the two, as the academic literature most focusses on causal relationships, whereas international humanitarian law, logically, concentrates on connection between conflict and the environment during the conflict. Following the legal body of literature, this research will focus on the relationship conflict holds with the climate, and more specifically water, while it is ongoing. Within this conflict phase, the use of water, whether that be for weaponization or targeting, will be the main focus of the dissertation, which is also the most regulated within international humanitarian law. This because, surprisingly, the literature on this topic is incredibly limited compared to other areas of interest. In the following section, the literature that has been published on the topic of water weaponization and targeting is given in a comprehensive overview in order to build a foundation for the research conducted in the analysis section.

2.3 Water Weaponization

While water weaponization can hardly be seen as a new phenomenon, dating back to the Mesopotamian civilisation, it still is severely understudied (King, 2023; Water Chronology, 2023, Daoudy, 2020). However, in 2002 Chalecki laid a foundation for further research into the topic. In this work she defined environmental terrorism as "the unlawful use of force against in situ environmental resources so as to deprive populations of their benefit(s) and/or destroy other property" (Chalecki, 2002, p. 48). This definition sets environmental terrorism apart from both eco-terrorism and environmental warfare, with environmental terrorism differing from the former through targeting the environment as opposed to serve an environmental cause, and from the latter as being executed by rebel groups compared to governmental actors (Chalecki, 2002). In addition to the provided definition of environmental terrorism, in her article, Chalecki (2002) also proposed a framework in which resources could either serve the purpose of a tool or that of a target, building on the work of others (Schwartz, 1998). As a tool, resources would be manipulated into becoming the weapon itself, whereas in the function of a target, they would have a more indirect impact on the consumers of the targeted water source. Among the resources that could potentially be used in such a way, water fits both categories. Later, Gleick (2006) places the weaponization of water under Chaleki's environmental terrorism banner.

Following, and expanding on, the framework Chalecki (2002) had built, Von Lossow (2016) states that water can either be used as a target or as a weapon, in addition to its function as a trigger mentioned above. According to him, water as a target "describes the – intentional or unintentional – damage or destruction of (sensitive) components of the water infrastructure" (Von Lossow, 2016, p. 84). He also describes that, when used against the local population, the targeting of water can be used as a show of strength and determination, potentially weakening support for the opponent (Von Lossow, 2016). However, when a political goal of the perpetrator is not clear to its population, their own support might also decline, due to a sentiment of unjustified violence (Kiras, 2007). Finally, the framework concludes with water used as a weapon in conflict, and this is described as "water resources directly (ab)used as an instrument of war, as a tool, in order to achieve strategic political and tactical military goals by targeting the population, addressing the opponent's political leadership and confronting the opposing military" (Von Lossow, 2016, p. 84).

From this statement, it can be said that different aims can be served through the weaponization of water, and Von Lossow (2016) distinguishes three different motives: 1) the strategic political dimension, 2) the tactical military considerations, and 3) the psychological effect. The strategic political dimension revolves around furthering the political objectives of the perpetrating actor. This dimension "is motivated by the will to demonstrate power, increase one's authority and, as a consequence, consolidate one's position in the territories under control" (Von Lossow, 2016, p. 85). Within this dimension, influence can also be acquired, or damage can be done, in areas beyond the reach of the attacker, without direct attacks, occupation, or control, due to the long reach of water. Secondly, the tactical military considerations and purposes of the water weapon are of more influence on the battlefield, in either defensive of offensive manoeuvres (Von Lossow, 2016). Defensively, one could flood an area of land in order to protect one's own positions, whereas offensively, denying opponent forces access to water by cutting them off the supply to drive them away from their positions, could be an example. Finally, the third dimension is the incredible psychological effect that water weaponization can have on people. Which can be compared to Chalecki's phenomenon environmental terrorism discussed above. This entails, that "just the potential use of its enormous destructive force poses an existential threat that can be upheld over the long term" (Von Lossow, 2016, p. 85). This indicates that with or without deployment, the water weapon can hold immense power over people and their behaviour and potentially creating fear under the general public.

Alternatively, Gleick and Heberger (2014) earlier proposed a typology more concerned with actors and patterns in conflicts. This typology distinguished between military tools and military targets which are both utilised by state actors. Then, terrorist purposes which this typology attributes to nonstate in which domestic violence and cyberterrorism are included, and lastly, development issues in which both state actors as well as non-state actors can be involved. This categorisation did however, receive criticism for its inclusion of the terrorism dimension due to the subjectivity that comes with the term (Zeitoun et al., 2014). On top of this, the categorisation has a too significant focus on the types of actors rather than on political consequences and the impact on populations according to critics (Daoudy, 2020).

Also diving deeper into the phenomenon of natural resources, and more specifically water, being used to serve political and military objectives, King (2015) developed a more comprehensive framework in which the different forms of weaponization are categorised. In the early stages of this framework, King (2015) defined a weapon as "a means of gaining an advantage or defending oneself in a conflict or a contest" (p. 155). This could be used by "a nation or a group, a weapon can take the form of an item, action, or offensive capability used or intended to kill, injure, or coerce" (King, 2023, p. 15). In his first categorisation developed in 2015, he expanded Von Lossow's framework and differentiated between five ways to instrumentalise water to be utilised in conflict to further political and military causes; these are 1) strategic weaponization, 2) tactical weaponization, 3) psychological terrorism, 4) extortion and incentivisation, and lastly 5) unintentional weaponization. Later, in an article written for the Center for Climate and Security, in cooperation with Burnell, the framework was narrowed down to three categories. In this version, psychological terrorism and extortion and incentivation are replaced by the category 'coercion', and unintentional weaponization is placed under tactical weaponization (King & Burnell, 2017).

Agreeing with the criticism on the typology developed by Gleick and Heberger (2014), and extending this to the framework of King (2015) and King and Burnell (2015), Daoudy (2020) developed her own typology. This typology does not focus on the actors behind the water weaponization, but rather on "control over resources and infrastructures" (Daoudy, 2020, p. 1351). She differentiates between the use of water with the purpose of creating domination and legitimacy, military targets and goals, or military tools, and the use of water as a tool of cooperation, taking into account earlier criticisms and King;s definition of a weapon (Daoudy, 2020, King 2015).

Recently, King (2023) updated his framework again which now contains six categories, them being: strategic weaponization, tactical weaponization, coercive weaponization, instrument of psychological terror, instrument of extortion or incentivisation, and lastly unintentional weaponization. In the section below, these latest categories are discussed more in details to provide a comprehensive overview.

2.3.1 Strategic Weaponization

Within this category, there exist two dimensions: the use of water for a spectacular purpose and the second is rent collection for water provision. King and Burnell (2017) describe the former to be mainly focussed on gaining control over a large or important area, which can be either actual control or virtual. In order to reach this point, the threat of flooding the area or the threat of denying access to water is usually sufficient in order to reach the goal according to King and Burnell (2017). For the second dimension, the authors indicate that water

can be used as a commodity, and can therefore also generate income when provided to the subjugated population for payment. These financial assets collected through water, can then be used to fund various insurgent activities, including salaries for officers or the acquisition of weapons. Finally, any action that target or impact densely populated areas, industrial centres or critical infrastructure can be categorised as strategic weaponization.

2.3.2 Tactical Weaponization

This second category regards water as the medium of violence, where "water is employed against targets of strictly military value within a confined battlespace" (King, 2023, p. 17). This does, however, not mean that it is used solely on the battlefield, but it can also, for example, target dykes or levees in order to target the enemy forces through inundation. Another way of applying tactical weaponization would be to deny opposing forces the access to water through the destruction or poisoning of wells. A more widely used form of this category, though less relevant for this research, would be the use of water cannons on protestors for example, in an attempt to control a crowd.

2.3.3 Coercive Weaponization

While this category might seem to have some overlap with strategic weaponization, King (2023) defines it to be "the use of water provision to fund territorial administration or weapons acquisition with aspirations of achieving legitimacy" (King, 2023, p. 16). This is mainly aimed at non-combatants in situations where government support in the region is lacking, and instead violent extremist organisations can provide the local population with basic needs such as clean and healthy water. This would aid these organisations' success through building their legitimacy in the region, "by demonstrating moral superiority over those who represent the state, supplant the functions of the state at the local level, and spreading a persuasive message" (Kiras, 2007, p. 193).

2.3.4 Instrument of Psychological Terror

Whether an event falls under this category is completely dependent on the intent of the violent extremist organisation, and rarely this event would fall under this category exclusively, as it can be used strategically, tactically or even to coerce. This because, while the definition of terrorism is highly contested, according to the terrorism literature, there are widely accepted elements defining terrorism: it requires the action to be violent, aimed to inspire fear among non-combatants, and executed for a political purpose (Combs, 2023; Kiras, 2007; Schmid, 2011). The fear among civilians would in this case be surrounding relatively easy targets such as wells and aimed at the "use of the threat of denial of access or purposeful contamination of the water supply to create fear among noncombatants" (King, 2023, p. 16), which can also be referred to as hydroterrorism.

2.3.5 Instrument of Extortion or Incentivisation

On the other hand, weaponization of water can also be used, not to inspire fear, but influence people's behaviour, either forcing or incentivising them to act in the interest of the violent extremist organisation. In essence, they are using "water provision to reward the behaviour of subject populations and support legitimacy of the perpetrator" (King, 2023, p. 16). As seen above, this type of action aims to gain support and legitimacy in an attempt to secure the legitimacy of the organisation and with that reach their long-term goals (Kiras, 2007). In addition, incentivation also shows the credibility of an actor as a governing authority to the local and 'occupied' population (King, 2015). An example of this would be the 'water mafias' who reward people's loyalty by providing sufficient and clean water (King, 2023).

2.3.6 Unintentional Weaponization

"Unintentional weaponization describes an outcome when use of the water weapons causes collateral damage to civilians or the ecological system" (King, 2015, p. 157). Here, "the perpetrator's initiation of the act is intentional, but the outcome is not" (King, 2023, p. 18). Examples of this could be the lack of control over an intended flood, and triggering forced migration, or the indiscriminate impact of the destruction of water infrastructure (King, 2023). In cases of unintentional weaponization crises surrounding food insecurity, famine or epidemics are relatively likely to follow the water weaponization event.

While it is recognised that this framework come with its downsides, such as the concerns raised by Daoudy (2020) and Zeitoun et al. (2014) regarding the use of terrorism as a category, it has to be addressed that the category is now no longer called terrorism but psychological terror. This lessens the negative subjective connotation, and would therefore no longer be an obstacle for the usage of this framework in this research. Additionally, King's (2023) is the most elaborate typology presented and is therefore considered most appropriate for this project.

Within the body of literature surrounding the climate-conflict nexus, however much research is done into various sub-topics, one aspect that is lacking according to Gagné and Su (2019). This lacking, or severely understudied, perspective identified is the one where the populations experiences are highlighted, giving personal insight into this nexus. With this, Gagné and Su (2019) have identified a gap in the literature and call for case studies into the personal perspective of people living under the double impact of both climate change and armed conflict. In order to provide such a personal perspective on the topic of water weaponization, this research will use the human security theory to identify how certain events impact people's lives on a personal level. In the below section, this human security theory is discussed in order to be able to utilise this in the research analysis.

3. Theoretical Framework: Human Security

The human security theory is part of the broadening and widening of the security dimension, aiming to make the individual the referent object rather than the state, which is some cases threatens the security of its citizens and others (Persaud, 2016). This shift in security thinking, has not only taken place in academics but also in the policy arena, making it a topic of concern for organisations like the United Nations (UN), but also for nation-states and other institutions. "For too long, the concept of security has been shaped by the potential for conflict between states. For too long, security has been equated with threats to a country's borders. For too long, nations have sought arms to protect their security." (United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), 1994, p. 3). This is why, as a response to "a crisis of underdevelopment, of global poverty, of ever-mounting population pressures, [and] of thoughtless degradation of environment" the United Nations Development Programme published the Human Development Report of 1994 (UNDP, 1994, p. iii). In which it puts forward a people-centred framework for development, that aims to reshape the global policy dialogue and broaden and deepen the notion of security (UNDP, 1994; Persaud, 2016). Since its introduction, the human security phenomenon has gained significant attention in the academic world, but within this an imbalance arose, highlighting certain topics like anti-personnel landmines while human security research only started focussing on issues like gender-based violence from 2010 onwards (Hampson, 2012).

Due to this growing body of literature, the human security literature diverted into three different conceptions: the first focussing mostly on the natural rights and the rule of law, the second on the humanitarian aspects, and the last on social justice (Hampson, 2012). The first perspective concerns itself with human rights such as the right to live and right to freedom, and aims for the protection as well as the promotion of these rights. The humanitarian conception revolves more around international law, and therefore argues for the deepening and strengthening of these laws surrounding, for example, genocide and war crimes. In addition to this, this perspective aims to protect civilians both through the abolishment of dangerous weapons as well as humanitarian help. Lastly, the social justice viewpoint sets itself apart from the former two by broadening the scope of human security significantly, making it more controversial than the other two interpretations, as it broadens human security by including economic, environmental and social factors among others. However, this broadening of the theory has also brought various criticisms, one of them stating that by including these other disciplines, there are too many factors considered important, leading to a lack of priority, which could potentially lead to having to choose between multiple factors considered important (Khong, 2001; Newman, 2010; Tadjbakhsh & Chenoy, 2007). On top of this, other scholars worry more about the methodological difficulties created by a theory this broad (Mack, 2001). As the inclusion of many variables makes isolation impossible, Mack (2005) worries that because of this, relationships between certain variables are harder, if not impossible, to detect.

Then, on top of the diverting conceptions of human security, scholars can also not find agreement on a definition of the concept, making human security a contest concept (Hampson, 2012). At the base, there is the differentiation between a more positive of negative definition. An example of a negative definition of human security is given by Hampson (2012), stating that human security can be defined "as the absence of threats to various core human values, including the most basic human value, the physical safety of the individual" (p. 231). Alternatively, Alkire (2003) proposes a positive definition, arguing that "the objective of human security is to safeguard the vital core of all human lives from critical pervasive threats, in a way that is consistent with longterm human fulfilment" (p. 2). The Commission on Human Security, however is of the opinion that the definition should be even more all-inclusive, stating that human security aims to "protect the vital core of all human freedoms and human fulfilment" (Report of the Commission on Human Security, 2003, p. 2). While these definitions are relatively similar, the extent of the broadening of human security does still lead to disagreement.

However, aside from the definitional issues, there is another major unresolved issue regarding human security and the implementation and research thereof. This issue has to do with the fact that different people might regard different factors to be part of the 'vital core of human life' (Hampson, 2012). Meaning that people in rich and developed countries might have a very different interpretation of core values in life than people in the global South (Khong, 2001). This ties in with the critique on the theory, that it would hold neo-colonial aspects (Persaud, 2016). This, in part, has to do with the assumption that Western countries would decide on when human rights, for example, are not upheld in the case of humanitarian intervention (Ayoob, 2004).

In order to give a comprehensive framework that can be of use in the following sections, the broad interpretation and the framework behind it are discussed in the next paragraphs. The broader interpretation is chosen due to the nature of the research and the results that are aimed for, namely analysing how certain events impact people's lives. For this, a broad framework with multiple categories taken into account gives a more all-encompassing and complete analysis, and many of the methodological critiques mentioned above are less relevant, taking away some downsides of the theory. In the document originally proposing the human security framework and theory, the Human Development Report of 1994 by the UNDP held seven categories by which human security can be impacted. Those being (1) economic security, (2) food security, (3) health security, (4) environmental security, (5) personal security, (6) community security, and lastly (7) political security (UNDP, 1994). In the section below, these are all discussed shortly.

3.1 Economic Security

This first category is considered vital for human security, as it assures the basic income of a household, giving more access to resources that can influence other types of security within the framework. And while ideally speaking this income would be the result of work the people do in order to sustain themselves, but when this is not the case, a government support system is an option that can provide for people's economic security, in case such a system is in place (UNDP, 1994). One of the most severe effects of economic insecurity identified

by the UNDP (1994) is homelessness, and with it the consequences of being without a home.

3.2 Food Security

While food security seems to speak for itself, there are two main factors that play a part here: the availability and the accessibility of the food (UNDP, 1994). The availability regards the physical presence of the food in the area of residence of people, which is influenced by factors such as national or regional food production, and if that is too low, import dependency. On top of this, the accessibility is also essential in ensuring food security, since famines can still occur even when there is plenty of food available (UNDP, 1994). An example of this, given in the Human Development Report (UNDP, 1994), is when inflation makes the food expensive enough that people are no longer able to afford the food available. Therefore, this accessibility is tied to economic security, as households need sufficient financial means in order to be able to buy food in case, they cannot produce this themselves.

3.3 Health Security

Also tying in with the previous category, health security, of course, surrounds the physical as well as mental health of people (UNDP, 1994), and is therefore heavily impacted by other categories such as food security and environmental security. This because people's health can easily be impacted by, for example, malnourishment but also environmental factors such as polluted water, or even the lack of sanitation as this can lead to, on occasion, lethal diseases or sicknesses (UNDP, 1994). In this category, the UNDP (1994) identifies, several communities, among whom poor people, rural communities, but also children and pregnant women, to be the most vulnerable to the threats posed in this category as these people either require more healthcare than average or have problems accessing health care.

3.4 Environmental Security

This category involves all threats that could potentially be posed to people by the environment they live in. Examples of these are desertification and salinisation of land, but also air pollution, deforestation, and shrinking (clean) water supplies (UNDP, 1994). In recent years these effects have been felt more intensely than before due to the increasing level of climate change, which is in part human induced. In developing countries, where climate change is felt more intensely than in other areas, this is a category that significantly impacts people's lives and threatens either their livelihood – for example for farmers, fishermen or pastoralists – or their personal security – for women who have to walk further in order to provide drinking water for their families (UNDP, 1994). Through climate change and all its consequences, environmental security is highly interconnected with the other categories this chapter touched upon.

3.5 Personal Security

This form of security protects the physical human being insofar that it aims to protect people from physical violence. This physical violence can come from various sources, like organised crime, war or conflict, or even the state in the form of torture (UNDP, 1994). In addition to these forms of violence that are consequences of government, or at least organised, actions, another significantly common forms of violence are domestic violence, rape and even child abuse (UNDP, 1994). Suffering from this more significantly than others are women, as threats to their personal security are more common due to the stereotype of their gender characteristics and the role they traditionally play in a household (UNDP, 1994). While personal security is mainly influenced by external factors, it does influence some of the other categories in the framework. An example of this is health security, this because wounds caused by physical violence can potentially lead to decreased health or ability, or even sickness.

3.6 Community Security

This form of security aims to prevent harm done by communal traditions, as a community is supposed to provide security to individuals and not harm them (UNDP, 1994). This is however also where one can imagine that certain people might find this an oppressive thought, since this means that outsiders to the community decide on whether this tradition does or does not pose a threat to individuals (Khong, 2001; Hampson, 2012). An example of this is female circumcision, also called female genital mutilation, which in many developed countries is usually considered a horrible practice, but is to many communities and tribes a generations honoured tradition (UNDP, 1994). Additionally, being within a community can also cause one to become involved in disagreements or conflicts between multiple communities, which can result in ethnic strife. In this way being a part of the community can potentially pose a threat to the individual, decreasing their security (UNDP, 1994).

3.7 Political Security

Political security is the seventh and final category in this human security framework. It concerns itself with whether human rights are upheld in the region analysed, tying in more with the two other perspectives on human security described above where international humanitarian law and human rights were of more importance (Hampson, 2012; UNDP, 1994). It does also relate heavily with the other categories as human rights do protect people in all of these categories in order to ensure that they can live free from oppression and inhumane living conditions. One other aspect that is quite significant in the political security realm is that people should also have the freedom to express their political opinion without the fear of persecution by the state or any other actor (Peoples & Vaughan-Williams, 2010).

Following the proposal of this framework, researchers have found common elements that remain constant throughout (Tadjbakhsh, 2013). The first being the freedom from want, which advocates for "conditions that allow for

protection of basic needs, quality of life, livelihoods and enhanced human welfare" (UNDP, 2022, p. 35). In this, food security, health security and economic security can easily be recognised. The second commonality is the freedom from fear, allowing for "conditions that allow individuals and groups protection from direct threats to their safety and physical integrity, including various farms of direct and indirect violence, intended or not", which clearly highlights personal, community and political security (UNDP, 2022, pp. 35-36). Lastly, freedom from indignity assures "conditions where individuals and groups are assured of the protection of their fundamental rights and allowed to make choices and take advantage of opportunities in their everyday lives", which can also be reached through political security (UNDP, 2022, p. 36).

As can clearly be seen, these elements and categories are heavily interconnected and therefore all have influence on each other. In order for people to be truly secure, all the above categories need to be satisfied at least to a certain extent. To which extent and in what way is important to determine before one plans to implement the framework in practice. However, the United Nations (UN) does not intend for a one fits all set of criteria as this is too contextual (UNDP, 2022). Therefore, this is beyond the scope of this research, and shall thus not be further addressed.

4. Methodology

Drawing on the information presented in the previous chapter, the following research question has been developed: How does the weaponization of climate change impact human security in the Sahel according to NGOs? The following section aims to explain why this question and its elements were selected as opposed to other possibilities. On top of this, this chapter provided more clarity about the research process of the dissertation, effectively clarifying the way the above research question will be answered.

4.1 Research Question

For the research question, the main variables that were deliberately chosen within the climate-security nexus are weaponization, human security – with which comes the theory that the United Nations has developed surrounding this phenomenon –, the Sahel region in Africa and lastly the NGOs. The concept of weaponization has been selected for the research, in favour of for example securitisation, in order to narrow down the scope of the research and limiting the outcomes to focus on the conflicts instead of the whole security spectrum. And while militarisation, for example also could serve this narrowing purpose, weaponization still is considered more favourable due to its inherent focus on how water is used as a tool by actors whereas militarisation focusses more on involving the military in the climate crisis (Gilbert, 2015). Another reason for electing weaponization over militarisation is that – as is discussed below – in the Sahel region that is involved in conflict, most government forces and institutions have abandoned the regions of conflict, and thus would not be directly involved in the conflicts.

Then, the human security theory was chosen as a model of analysis in order to shed light on the personal perspective within the climate security. This because it has recently been discovered that "case studies that highlight people's experiences of [the climate-conflict nexus] are at best scarce [which] limits our understanding of the micro dimensions" (Su & Gagné, 2019, p. 2). Therefore, the personal level on which the human security theory operates provides a beneficial framework in order to fill this gap identified by Su and Gagné (2019). Within the selection of this theory, the broad interpretation of human security is chosen in order to be able to analyse any impact weaponization might have on the people's experiences. This version of the theory can detect the impact in more aspects of life and therefore, will be able to give a more complete analysis and conclusion.

Following this, the region in which the case studies are selected, the Sahel, has been selected for both its geographical location, which makes the area

incredibly vulnerable to the effects of climate change through the desertification, decrease of precipitation, and an increase of the average temperature (ND-GAIN, 2023). On top of this, the area has been in conflict for the better part of a decade with the growth of the Islamic insurgency group Boko Haram in the area. Making this area, unfortunately, perfect for the study of the climate-conflict nexus. While there are of course also other areas in the world where similar climate conditions can be found in combination with Islamic insurgencies that could have been selected for this research. However, the limited literature available on water weaponization is often focussed on countries such as Syria and Iraq, and in order to add to the literature, the Sahel has been chosen for the lack of literature on the topic in this area (King, 2016).

Lastly, the NGOs have been selected to be the publishers of the texts that are going to be the object of analysis. Like mentioned before, the literature suggests that more research in the climate-conflict nexus should account for the personal perspectives, and through the selection of NGOs, the research aims to provide this in order to have a relevant and necessary contribution to the existing body of literature. This is because, it is suspected that the NGO output will provide sufficient civilian testimonies in order to analyse their concerns and take these into account in the conclusion.

4.2 Case Study Selection

Following this justification of the selection of the Sahel, the following section explains why the case studies within the Sahel are chosen. Within the Sahel, there are still various different countries that can be selected as multiple are engaged in conflict, whether internally or externally, and the entire region, like mentioned before, is vulnerable to the effects of climate change. However, after a careful analysis of the ND-GAIN index, the lake Chad conflict – with Chad, Niger, Cameroon and Nigeria involved – and the Central Sahel Crisis – with Mali, Niger and Burkina Faso involved, have been selected. In addition to their obvious involvement in conflict, all these countries are situated in the bottom twenty percent of the ND-GAIN index, indicating that the countries are

incredibly vulnerable to climate change and among the countries least prepared to deal with its impact. Adding to this their immensely low score on the development indicators, this region is critical, and therefore could benefit from increasing research into the region. On top of this, these two cases are the main conflicts currently ongoing in the Sahel and thus make the best candidates for case studies in this research, as both a changing climate and ongoing armed conflict are a prerequisite for the case studies. While both cases are analysed during the analysis, the discussion of the results, and the conclusion, there will not always be a clearcut separation between the cases. This because of the similarities the cases hold, making the Sahel as a region a more cohesive region of analysis in which these two case studies take place.

4.3 Data Collection

In this project, the data that is collected in order to conduct the analysis, consists of NGO reports and the output that is posted on their webpages that describe the situation in either conflict, and in some cases both. The aim with these sources is that they give an overview of the conflicts, examples of instances where water has been weaponized within those conflicts, and personal experiences of the population in the region. This in order to provide the much-needed personal perspective that has been identified as too limited in the literature (Su & Gagné, 2019). In the event that these personal experiences are lacking, expert testimonies – of NGO employees – given in the texts could also be beneficial in addition to the general perspective given by the NGOs. These various perspectives could give a more clear and complete perspective on the situation and therefore, might also prove to give a more reliable result.

Since the body of data with the criteria mentioned above alone would still be too sizeable to be feasible to analyse within the allocated time for this research, more criteria have to be in place in order to narrow down the available texts. First of all, the documents would have to be written in either English or Dutch, this because these are the languages that the researcher speak fluently, and thus prevents translating errors. Second, a set of criteria for the limitation in the publishing NGOs needs to be developed. Starting with the necessary credibility of the NGO, the ones selected for the research need to have a good reputation within the international community. This limits the chances that

	Documents	Pages
Amnesty International	1	б
IRCR	6	32
International Rescue Committee	3	43
MSF	4	20
Norwegian Refugee Council	1	8
Save the Children	2	17
UNICEF	2	22

information in the texts is false or incomplete, which can then lead to an invalid conclusion. Then, the NGOs need to be present in the Sahel area and be able to give a first-hand perspective on the situation, in order to ensure some personal or

Table 1 Data collection, documents and pages per NGO.

expert perspectives are given and provide the essential personal touch to the research. This way, the personal perspective can be given without having direct access to the area of analysis, which is not feasible for a master dissertation. Combining all these criteria for the NGOs of which reports and web pages are to be used for the analysis of this research, the following NGOs have been selected: Amnesty International, International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), International Rescue Committee, Medecins Sans Frontières (MSF), Norwegian Refugee Council, Save the Children and UNICEF. As shown in table 1, the number of documents found according to the criteria varies per NGO, this because not all the selected NGOs have the same amount of output available relevant to the research. However, the length of the relevant text is also worth mentioning as this, in the end, is of course more important than the number of documents. While the number of pages is still not equal or even similar, this selection of documents is relevant to the topic and, when analysed, is expected to provide an answer to the research question. What is to be expected in the documents is a certain amount of bias towards a certain subtopic, for example, MSF is likely to place its focus on health security, where Save the Children and UNICEF are more likely to veer their attention towards children in the area. It is however, expected that due to the variety of the selected NGOs that this will not have a significant effect on the conclusion. The final selection amounts to 19 documents and 148 pages.

4.4 Analysis

In order to analyse the above-mentioned documents and reach an answer to the research question, the necessary information needs to be extracted through a research method. In this case, both the discourse and content analysis method are used (Scribbr, 2023). This way analysis can be done both on the topics covered by the NGOs but also on whether the NGOs reflect the personal or expert stories of civilians or NGO workers, but also on the content of the documents. This includes whether climate change or conflict are mentioned and whether, according to the NGO, a relationship is held with one of the human security categories. Additionally, the content analysis can give clarity about the events of water weaponization in the area, and whether this has any influence on the human security or personal experiences of people living in the conflicts. In order to extract the data from the documents consistently, the program nVivo 14 is used, this software allows the document to be coded, and can later extract the relationships between the codes. For this sort of analysis, a code book has been developed to ensure consistent coding over the entire process. This code book also aims to minimise the inconsistency during the coding process. In this code book, the codes are listed including a description of when the code is applicable to a piece of text and when it should be used. When creating the code book there is of course a subjectiveness bias in the creating of the codes themselves and during the coding process as personal views might cause the researcher to code certain pieces of text differently than someone else. While the code book does aim to minimise this, and its foundation of theory does too, subjectiveness bias cannot be completely eliminated. However, the researcher is aware of this type of bias and attempts to minimise this, by strictly keeping to the codes identified in the code book.

The main code clusters that are included in the set of codes, are based on two theories, of which the first is King's (2023) framework of water weaponization that has been mentioned above. With these codes, the goal is to find events of water weaponization in the Sahel, in order to be able to come to a conclusion. In these instances, the type of weaponization is coded as well as a general code for weaponization, this to ensure it is clear how many events of water weaponization are identified and to then be able to analyse whether these events include different types of weaponization. The second cluster of codes regards the human security framework. Here it is important that every time one of the categories is mentioned, this is coded, in order to find out what factors influence the human security factors and thus also in which ways weaponization can potentially impact it. On top of this, there is a set of codes that tracks the times certain actors are given space to share their experiences, this to ensure these testimonies are registered and to be able to shed light on what topics are most important according the them. Then, there is another set of clusters to record the countries that the events mentioned in the texts happen in, this to discover where the focus of the NGOs lies and whether the situation might be worse in one conflict than the other. The last cluster is that of the NGOs, which help to track certain preferences or patterns in the data provided by the different organisations. A complete overview of the codes can be found in appendix 1.

When this coding is completed, an analysis is done in order to determine the relationships that are found in between the different codes and code groups. In the first section of the analysis, there will be a focus on the discourse analysis regarding the publishing NGOs and what they have decided to portray in their output. This includes where there are expert or personal experiences given by NGO employees or civilians respectively, or how well weaponization and human security are covered. Then, the analysis deepens the understanding of the stories told by civilians, shedding light on what is most important to them, and also what are the main threats perceived by them, among which weaponization is also explored. The following part, aims to discover how human security is influenced and impacted, this can be either by other factors within the framework or any other code, or code group, that is seems to hold a relationship with. Lastly, the analysis discusses water weaponization and the relationships it forms with other codes, taking the results from the previous sections and adding on the missing relationships. This gives a complete overview of the influence water weaponization has and therefore, this part is essential as without it, no conclusion can be reached.

4.5 Limitations

Like any research project, this one also comes with its own limitations, of which there are two significant ones that are discussed here: this being a Masters dissertation, and thus comes with limited resources and time, and secondly, the fact that this research is mainly based around case studies, which naturally have a low external validity (Gerring, 2004).

Starting with the consequences of the restraints placed on this project in the form of time and resources, as these are quite significant in this case. This because, the ideal method to be used for researching personal experiences of people dealing with the consequences of climate change and conflict, is ethnography, and not the discourse and content analysis that are currently used (Suryani, 2013). In the case that ethnography would be possible, the true experiences of these people could be recorded, and much more first-hand information would be available, increasing the relevance of the results. However, this would take significantly more time than the six months that have been allocated for the dissertation, and would require financial resources, which are not available. While it is the intention of the researcher to obtain information directly from the areas of interest through analysing documents that have been published by people on the scene and experts in the field, this information can, of course, not compare to true first-hand sources.

Additionally, the research is limited through the use of the case study method, with its low generalisability as the number of cases studied is extremely limited (Gerring, 2004). However, as has been mentioned before, within the climate-conflict nexus, a need for case studies regarding personal perspectives has been identified as only a limited number have been done (Su & Gagné, 2019). This indicates that while the generalisability of this specific piece of research might indeed be low, the results will contribute to a wider understanding of the personal perspectives when looking at the bigger picture and therefore still giving some form of relevance to the results.

5. Case Studies

As has been explained before, the main case study in this research is surrounding the Sahel region in Africa for multiple reasons, and within this larger case study, two conflicts will be the main focus. This chapter aims to give a concise overview of some background information for both conflicts, starting with the Lake Chad conflict, followed by the one in the Central Sahel.

5.1 Lake Chad Basin Conflict

For this research, a case study on the Lake Chad region, and the larger, Lake Chad Basin region is conducted in order to assess the impact of water weaponization on human security in the Sahel region. Lake Chad used to be one of the largest lakes on the African continent, with a size of about 25.000 km2 but due to climate change the lake shrank to not even a fifth of its original size (Shanmugha, 2021). Bordering the lake, and the larger Lake Chad Basin, are four countries: Chad, Nigeria, Cameroon and Niger. In the area, people are mostly dependent on activities such as fishing agriculture, livestock, hunting and pastoralism for their livelihoods, making them reliant on the increasingly changing weather patterns. The fact that lake is shared between communities from four different countries, creates an international community between the people living by and around the lake (Samuel, 2022). Many trading relationships were formed before the conflict and families were interconnected over the borders through marriages and religion, the exchanges in the area flourished. This does however, not mean that the area did not have its challenges as banditry and a lack of government presence did cause insecurity and marginalisation, respectively (Samuel, 2022). On top of this, abductions, highway robberies and cattle rustling further added to a sense of insecurity to the personal security of the local population (UNDP, 2022). However, this does not compare to the period when the violent extremist organisation Boko Haram gained traction in the area and began taking charge. The rise of this insurgent group started in the Nigerian area surrounding the lake and it aims to form an Islamic State in the Sahel surrounding the Lake Chad region. In 2009 this came to a clash with government forces, which led to Boko Haram using more and more targeted killings and guerrilla tactics in order to gain the upper hand over the government (Onuoha, 2012). The aforementioned marginalisation in the area by the central government, fuelled resentment against government officials and institutions, giving way to Boko Haram go grow and flourish in the area (International Rescue Committee, 2023a). This has led to roads no longer being safe to travel and trading is becoming increasingly harder, detaching the smaller communities from their former close partners (Samuel, 2022). After twelve years of Boko Haram rule in the area, 11 million people are in need of humanitarian assistance, 3.2 million were forced to leave their home lands, and 3 million people are now food insecure of which 400.000 children are extremely malnourished (Samuel, 2022). Clearly, the combination of intensified violence and conflict, combined with the consequences of climate change that the region has been experiencing for decades, makes this area very vulnerable to any situation which exploits either one of these, making this the perfect case study for this research.

5.2 Central Sahel Conflict

In addition to the case study on the Lake Chad region, the second conflict in the Sahel is the Central Sahel conflict which started in Northern Mali in 2011 and later spread to neighbouring countries Burkina Faso and Niger (UNCHR, 2020). Following this violence in 2011, in 2012 Islamist groups and Tuareg separatists conquered parts of the region after a military coup, this made that the violence became more inter-communal and attacks by insurgent groups became more frequent (UNHCR, 2020). This inter-communal violence is mainly between the

farmers and pastoralists, with the former being nomadic and the latter, both competing for natural resource like water for animals and irrigation, resulting in clashes between the two communities (ICRC, 2020). Slowly these occurrences of violence, by mainly the insurgent groups, also started spreading to Burkina Faso and Niger, spreading through the Central Sahel region (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, 2023). As the groups started gaining more territory, and were in need of income, forced taxes were implemented and violence started to increasingly be targeted towards civilians and civilian infrastructures (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, 2023). Ultimately, the violence and insecurity in mainly Mali and Burkina Faso led people to flee their homes, making them internally displaced if not having to flee their country in to the neighbouring countries (UNHCR, 2020). The consequence of this is that millions of people are currently displaced in the countries and around the area, making this one of the worst refugee crises of the world. This issue of displacement also spreads the humanitarian crisis with them, this because at times, the fleeing people are not living in refugee or displacement camps, but hosted by local communities, who share their limited resources with, sometimes, many more people than are included in their own original communities (International Rescue Committee, 2016). These issues make people of the entire region vulnerable to the impacts of the violence. Recently, due to increased government efforts to handle the spreading violence in Burkina Faso, violence against civilians has supposedly increased in the form of people going missing and extrajudicial killings of people who are suspected to work with the insurgents (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, 2023). Similarly in Mali, recent developments have violence has increased against civilians, however, this time the people suspected to collaborate with the government are the victims. This violence against the local population is said to be used in order tot either draw them into the ranks of the insurgents, or forcefully displace the people not willing to cooperate (Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect, 2023). In addition to this violence, the region also has to deal with the intense consequences of climate change, leading to more extreme weather events, even warmer temperatures, less predictable precipitation, resulting in droughts and heavy rains (Climate Diplomacy, 2021). Like could be seen in the example of the pastoralists and farmers, these climatic occurrences can have an impact on increased violence and with this add to the already unsafe environment for the people living in the Central Sahel. This double impact that the literature calls the climate-conflict nexus can definitely be felt here.

6. Analysis

Taking both areas discussed above, this chapter discusses the analysis through the results of the text analysis, focussed on both the content and the forms of discourse that are present in the selected documents, are presented and discussed. This discussion aims to analyse the outcomes of the text analysis and attempts to answer the research question given in the methodology chapter. The analysis starts with a dissection of what the different NGOs have focussed their reports and webpages on. Then, it moves on to analyse the experiences of civilians living in the affected areas, after which it is determined how the human security codes interact with the other codes, among which the countries, actors and conflict. Lastly, the analysis delves into the relationships the documents hold between weaponization and the other codes in order to come to a conclusion.

6.1 Non-Governmental Organisations

Starting with the discourse analysis on the different documents collected, all documents were given one code linked to the NGO that published the content either on one of their web pages or in one of their reports. This way, it can easily be seen whether certain NGOs focus more on certain topics or actors than others. In this section of the chapter, it is discussed how different NGOs engage with

different actors, countries, the human security theory, conflict and weaponization.¹

First of all, the interaction with different types of actors – such as civilians, NGO employees, state- and non-state actors – is measured and interpreted. While state- and non- state actors we never given the opportunity to tell their story, in the other groups of actors, differences can be seen between the NGOs. These differences show as organisations such as Amnesty International and Save the Children gave approximately equal opportunity for both civilians and NGO employees to add perspective to the content, both with a slight benefit for their employees, whereas the ICRC, International Rescue Committee and UNICEF gave focussed significantly more on the civilians. MSF was the only organisation that gave considerably more space to NGO workers to contribute to the narrative. This shows that the ICRC, International Rescue Committee and UNICEF portray a more personal narrative whereas MSF provides an expert perspective.

Then, while in the most cases NGOs have provided country specific information for most, if not all, countries included in the case studies, the countries of the Central Sahel are clearly more common in the documents, indicating that the conflict-climate nexus is a more immediate problem for NGOs in the region than in the Lake Chad area – including Chad, Cameroon, Niger and Nigeria. This does, however, not necessarily mean that the humanitarian situation is worse in one of these areas, but it means that this phenomenon is better covered by NGOs. Surprisingly, Niger – being included in both regions – does not stand out in the number of codes it received, meaning that the coverage of Niger is not excessive in either conflict area. While, this imbalance can lead to a suspicion less reliable results, it is believed that all countries have been represented enough to conduct the analysis,

Additionally, when looking at the human security theory and categories, food security – and with that the lack of food and drinking water – was discussed

¹ The data that this analysis is based on can be found in appendix 2, table 2.

the most overall and political security the least. However, the different NGOs show a stark contrast in what was the category of security mentioned the most. Expectedly, MSF focussed mostly on health security, indicating that "the lack of clean water and high concentration of people in the region results in the spread of parasitic infections, skin diseases, and water-borne diseases like diarrhea" (MSF, 2021, p. 3). Whereas the ICRC mentioned that "the effects of climate change, including reduced rainfall, desertification and the loss of livelihoods by communities, are keenly felt" (ICRC, 2022b, p. 2). Which indicates, along with the fact that this was the most common concern mentioned that changing climate – and thus environmental security – are an incredibly important factor to the ICRC in this region. The International Rescue Committee prioritised the heavily interrelated economic security and food security in their content. An example from one of their reports states that "more frequent [climate] shocks force people to leave their homes and destroy their sources of income, forcing them to compromise on their food consumption (IRC, 2023, p. 8). The Amnesty International report was mostly interested in the personal security of women and girls in IDP camps. While similarly, UNICEF was mostly interested in the personal security and freedom of violence for the young population in the areas. And lastly, children in the region could count on Save the Children to call attention to the fact that "millions [are] now struggling to access nutritious food, safe drinking water, health care education and other social services that have been seriously disrupted" (Save the Children, 2020, p. 7). Overall, the text analysis seems to indicate that the selected documents point toward security issues in all categories of analysis, but mainly to the ones related to food and drinking water, the environment and personal security, with to a less extent health and economic security issues.

Another interesting insight is one related to conflict and the people causing violence and posing a threat to other people. The analysis generally shows that non-state actors are more often indicated to be the instigators of violence over state actors, which logically follows from the case studies that discussed that state actors are mostly withdrawn from the conflict areas and nonstate actors or insurgent groups now control parts of the region. However, the analysis gave one outlier from this conclusion, which is the story portrayed by Amnesty International. Here government forces – or those collaborating with or working for them – are described to be the main source of harm. As "thousands of women and girls who survived the brutal rule of the Boko Haram armed group have since been further abused by the Nigerian security forces who claim to be rescuing them" (Amnesty International, 2018, p. 1). This gives an interesting perspective on the situation as normally one would expect the insurgent groups to be the main source of harm, but apparently this is not always the case. And while the other documents do also mention that state actors are on occasion responsible for violence towards civilians, this is greatly outnumbered by events where non-state actors are the sources of threat. This leads to a conclusion that in general non-state actors are responsible for the violence in the area, but on occasion state actors are also involved.

Lastly, and most importantly, the topic of water weaponization is relatively poorly represented by the NGOs. Only Amnesty International, the ICRC, the International Rescue Committee and UNICEF have recorded instance of water weaponization and only in very small numbers. While it needs to be acknowledged that it is quite a niche and narrow topic and code, such little instances of documentation were not expected. In addition to this, it is often unclear which of King's categories (2023) is applicable to the events as the motivation behind them is hardly ever recorded, and potentially not even known. The events that were included in the documents mostly described the poisoning of water sources with several different substances including fuel, animal carcasses and human corpses as well as attacks on water points by armed groups (ICRC, 2022a; UNICEF, 2023; IRC 2016). Both of these types of events lead to a diminishing amount of drinking water available. A completely different approach to the weaponization of water is described by Amnesty International (Amnesty International, 2018). In this case, due to the immense lack of water and food, women are raped by armed forces in exchange for food and water, which of course has an immense impact of the physical as well as mental wellbeing of a woman, endangering their personal security (Amnesty International, 2018). As depicted by these examples, the weaponization of water described in the articles is impactful on the lives of the local population.

All in all, this part of the analysis shows that the NGOs paint the picture of a humanitarian crisis in both the Central Sahel and the Lake Chad Basin regions. The population is impacted over the whole spectrum of the human security theory and even natural resources are weaponized against them. In this, civilians as well as NGO workers share their experiences giving a personal and an expert perspective on the situation. The following section of the chapter analyses the situation from a personal perspective, focussing on the statements given by the civilian population.

6.2 Civilians

As has been discussed above, nearly half of the NGOs gave significantly more attention to the anecdotes of victims of the humanitarian crisis than any other actor. In order to examine this, and to provide the much-needed personal perspective, this section analyses the stories told by these civilians, including their main concerns within the human security spectrum, the conflict and violence that they have fallen victim to, and finally their description of events of water weaponization.²

In the testimonies of the local population the main concerns that are addressed, concern food and personal security. Indicating that they experience a lack of sufficient food and water of a healthy quality, and fear violent attacks on their personal being. As an example, a woman in Nigeria told the International Rescue Committee: "[the insurgents] told us that if we 'tried anything stupid', they would kill us. They came shooting and shouting at people to surrender to them" (IRC, 2016, p. 5). Another adult woman who fled her

² The data that this analysis is based on can be found in appendix 2, table 3.

village states that "the armed men arrived, [and] they beat and killed all the men they found there" (ICRC, 2022a, p. 2). Later, she describes that "children were crying and asking for drinking water, people lost their lives because of thirst" (ICRC, 2022a, p. 2). Someone else shared that their "biggest problem is food: [they] can't find enough to eat. [They] don't have any money-making activities to buy enough food" (IRC, 2016, p. 2). This statement includes the economic security of the household into their struggle to feed themselves properly. A herder from Burkina Faso, includes even more factors – including economic and environmental issues - into their lack of sustenance: "the rains were scarce. There is no more food. With the lack of grazing, the sheep are getting thinner and this forces us to sell them at a loss. I used to have twelve sheep, but now I only have one left." (Save the Children, 2022, p. 2). Interestingly, these personal experiences give the same weight to the different aspects of security being affected, with personal and food security being of most concern and community and political security posing the least direct threats. One of the two main outliers is the environmental security, which is mentioned in the documents significantly more than by the civilians. This can, however, be explained by the fact that many people living in these areas are not familiar with the concept of climate change, they only notice the weather being different than before (ICRC, 2020). Another potential explanation could be that environmental security issues usually play a part in causing the main security issues they are experiencing and therefore being less relevant for the description of their current situation. The other differing factor is health security, which was mentioned relatively often over the entirety of the documents, but mentioned much less by the local people. It is suspected that this is because of the lack of personal perspective of MSF, the NGO that is most concerned with health-related security issues. However, despite these two outliers, generally speaking, the main concerns of the local population and the NGO community within the human security framework are food security and personal security.

Continuing to delve deeper into this, the personal security issues are often caused by violence due to the threat it posed for the physical integrity of a human being. In over a third of the personal stories, violence was mentioned to have posed a threat to the victim. And while the perpetrator was not mentioned in almost half of the cases, in, again, almost half of the cases nonstate actors were mentioned as the source of violence. While state actors only engage in violent acts in a small number of anecdotes, with the main case being that of the sexual assault on internally displaced women in exchange for food. Apart from this, most cases where state-actors are involved, this portrays a clash between state and non-state actors, explaining that "fighting intensified between government forces and secessionist groups in [the] regions" (MSF, 2019, p. 29). Taking this together, this part of the analysis presents a situation in line with the background literature about the case study, which stated that government actors have left the region and non-state actors are mostly in charge in both the Central Sahel as well as in the Lake Chad Basin.

In their mention of violence, the people on occasion also describe the weaponization of water, and how the resource is used against them. While there are only three cases where this was described, compared to the times weaponization in the entire body of text analysed, these three cases are relatively a lot. Again, one of the cases where this happened is where an internally displaced woman described her experience: "One [Civilian JTF] man came and brought food to me. The next day he said I should take water from his place [and I went]. He then closed the tent door behind him and raped me." (Amnesty International, 2018, p. 3). In this case the lack of food and drinking water – and therefore her hunger and thirst – were used against her in order to violate her. This constitutes water weaponization under the category of extortion according to King (2023), as later the woman was told by the man: "I gave you these things, if you want them we have to be husband and wife" (Amnesty International, 2018, p. 3). Although this is extortion on the smallest scale, as only one person is threatened, water is still used in order to make her act

according to the man's will. In another case where weaponization was described, a woman told the ICRC that armed men "burned the houses into straws, tore down the sleeping mats, destroyed the water containers and food. They destroyed everything" (ICRC, 2022a, p. 2). In this case, the weaponization is probably not the goal, but more part of a greater rampage. Since the inhabitants of the village fled the scene, this weaponization of water, and the overall scene of violence, could be used as a tactic of psychological terror, leading to the conquering of territory by the armed group, suggesting it would also fit under the strategic weaponization. However, since there is no account of the motivations behind the attack, this cannot be said with certainty. In order to draw a more certain conclusion on this, one would have to analyse the perspective of the armed men, which at present is not available. In yet another case of weaponization mentioned, "the water had been contaminated with dead bodies" (International Rescue Committee, 2016, p. 8). Since there is very little information available, in this case, the type of weaponization can only be analysed through speculation, as there are several possibilities. The first potential form of weaponization would be tactical, this would be an option as in the account by the civilian, she stated that "the daily sound of gunfire and bombs frightened [her]" (International Rescue Committee, 2016, p. 8). This suggests that armed forces are present in the area, and thus the poisoning of the water with human remains could be intentionally placed in order to create a disadvantage for the opposing forces. Another, less likely option would be that it was used as psychological terror, where just like the previous example the aim was to drive people from living in the area, which, in case this was the objective would have been successful since "only the elderly were living there" (International Rescue Committee, 2016, p. 8). This option is less likely, as it seems illogical to want to gain territory, which in this case would have contaminated water. Since the area is extremely arid, and water is already scarce, one would not destroy a water source that they would later intend on using. Lastly, it is possible that the weaponization of these water sources was

unintentional, that the goal of the disposal of the remains was not to contaminate the water, but to simply get rid of the bodies. And while this also may seem less likely, it can simply not be concluded with certainty due to lacking information. In the end, it can be seen that in practice water weaponization can be used to reach multiple objectives and that there is indeed a lasting impact on the victims of this weaponization.

All in all, the testimonies of the civilian population, give a lot of value to analysis and research as this truly gives the personal perspective on the case that is needed. This makes it possible to explore their worries, concerns and stories. In this case they show that the population is mostly worried about the availability of food and water, and effect that violence has, or can have, or their personal security and this is mostly caused by non-state actors.

6.3 Human Security

Following from the above analysis, it is important to explore what influences the human security factors in these cases. This in order to find out whether water weaponization has any influence on this. For this to become clearer, the codes related to human security are going to be analysed against themselves, but also with the weaponization codes, as well as the violence and conflict codes. In addition to this, a comparison will also be made between country codes in order to determine whether a certain human security element is of more concern in different countries.³

Starting with analysing the interconnectedness of the separate variables of the human security theory, the main focus will be on the factors that have been deemed most concerning to the civilians. This means, the starting category is food security, which according to the analysis is the most immediate issue posing a threat to people. Food security came out to be related most to economic security, which is clear from quotes indicating that "people are facing malnutrition and more people are being pushed into poverty every day" (ICRC,

³ The data that this analysis is based on can be found in appendix 2, table 4.

2022a, p. 1). This is a connection that can be expected as people are reliant on their income in order to be able to afford food for themselves and their families, with as a consequence that "an estimated 33 million people in the Sahel are classified as food insecure. Impoverished communities struggle to safely [...] secure a basic income" (ICRC, 2019, p. 2). "With food and income ranking as people's top concerns, access to earning opportunities and markets are vital in tackling the growing hunger" (International Rescue Committee, 2016, p. 4). Alternatively, the food supply of communities is also dependent on the agricultural success of the farmers, as well as the success of fishermen and herders. "Insecurity deprives farmers from accessing their fields and herders to access pastures, pushing them further at risk of being food insecure" (International Rescue Committee, 2023b, p. 10). Here it can also be seen that this relationship between food and economic security is not a standalone relationship but is also influenced by factors such as personal insecurity, which prevents people from moving freely which limits their ability to earn an income through trade or herding. Similarly, "climate change [contributes] heavily to the economic turmoil the populations in the Sahel are facing and impact massively their access to food" (International Rescue Committee, 2023b, p. 13). This also links to the high number of links found between the environmental code and food security. Which of course is to be expected, as climate change influences the ability of people to make money by working the land or engaging with animals, and since most of the rural population in both the Central Sahel and the Lake Chad Basin gets their income from these types of work, climate change therefore indirectly impacts the food security of these people as well. One other factor that is heavily interrelated with food security is health security, which is demonstrated when "each year between July and October, food shortages and heavy rains trigger a spike in malnutrition and malaria in Niger, especially in the southern regions" (MSF, 2019, p. 67). Again, this relationship is to be expected, since people suffering from malnutrition have a more vulnerable immune system and are therefore more likely to contract diseases or face harsher consequences of them. Taking all these factors into consideration, it is easy to say that food security in the Sahel is dependent on a lot of factors and also influences other dimensions of security.

The type of security considered most important and lacking apart from food security, as mentioned before, is personal security and therefore the threat posed to people's bodily security. While this factor is not as highly interrelated as food security, there are still a significant number of links with other dimensions. One of them being with food security, which has also been briefly explored above, but another more direct example of how these concepts interact more directly in the example of the internally displaced women who were raped after having been given food. Here food security, or the lack thereof, directly impacts the personal security of these women as their hunger allows them to be lured in such a trap. In the case that enough food would have been available to these women, they would never have accepted such an offer and would therefore be less vulnerable to such threats to their personal security. Another occasion on which the availability of food and water has an impact on personal security has to do with the distance that needs to be travelled in order for people to be able to collect the food or water. A villager explains: "we used to leave home at five in the morning to reach distant pools to fetch water. We would only get back at around noon and then get on with other household chores. Now, we can eat breakfast with our children and have access to water less than a fifteenminute walk away. We no longer need to face the dangers associated with having to walk to distant water sources" (ICRC, 2022b, p. 6). These dangers posed by the water collection process are also felt when "armed men threaten women on their way to water points by firing warning shots" (UNICEF, 2023, p. 5). This incredible distance, which can sometimes be up to 35 kilometres, of course plays an incredible role in the life of a woman – who is responsible for water collection – and their security (International Rescue Committee, 2023b). In some cases, these distances to water points are not only caused by scarcity but enlarged due to climate change, when "climate change and lack of infrastructure forces people to walk [great distances] to these basic commodities" (International Rescue Committee, 2023b, p. 7). In addition, "the herders and their families had been looking forward to no longer having to face danger and harsh climate to fetch water from sump pits and small wadis far from their homes" (ICRC, 2022b, p. 2). Confirming that this is a problem in this community as well. In another case, "natural hazard comes at a heavy human and financial cost" (International Rescue Committee, p. 6). An example of such a natural hazard is an abundance of water in the shape of a flood, taking human lives. In this way, it can be seen that also the second most mentioned threat is very interrelated with other human security aspects. This connectedness is important to be aware of, as this hints towards the various ways in which human security can be impacted, and when impacting one, the human security of a person might be impacted over the entire spectrum due to the fact that impacting one category, other parts of people's lives can also be impacted.

In order to give a complete overview of the situation, the correlation between conflict, violence and the human security categories needs to be examined, since the literature indicates that conflict also greatly impacts human security, and this is an integral piece of the situation of analysis. As the conflictclimate nexus literature suggests, the analysed documents do also point towards a connection between the concepts as they have been mentioned together often. "Mali, like other countries in the Sahel region, is in the grip of an armed conflict whose impact has been aggravated by climate change" (ICRC, 2022b, p. 1). And it is even said that "climate change and conflict make an explosive mix in the Sahel" (ICRC, 2019, p. 1). Indicating that the combination of the two phenomena pose significant threats and sources of potential harm to civilians. On occasion, there is even hinted towards a direct link where "the effects of climate change are exacerbating conflict between communities [...], leading to a deepening poverty, a weakening of public service and a disruption to traditional means of survival" (ICRC, 2019, p. 1). In this case, it can also clearly be seen that the double impact of climate change and conflict have an impact on multiple other human security factors.

Where food and economic issues were the most related factors with environmental influences, in armed conflict these are the same, meaning that – apart from environment - the most correlation was found between conflict and economic and food security, respectively. The correlation with economic security can be seen when "in situations of conflict, insecurity is the only one of the menaces people face. They may lose their homes and their livelihoods" (ICRC, 2020, p. 16). These livelihoods are lost in situations when "herders who needed to move with their animals were trapped in place. Farmers could no longer reach the fields" (ICRC, 2020, p. 36). This loss of income is of course very impactful on anyone's life and can have devastating consequences, this because those people "lost their income and harvest" (International Rescue Committee, 2023b, p. 6). This can lead to a food crisis in which "people are facing malnutrition and more people are being pushed into poverty every day", heavily impacting their security (ICRC, 2022a, p. 1). From this, the strong link between food and economic security itself can also be spotted again on top of their relation with conflict. However, at times, there also seems to be another relationship between the two factors, this is where "the risk of conflict grows further in some cases because of indirect, often economic, impacts of climate change" (International Rescue Committee, 2023a, p. 7). In this case, the conflict and environment are not the influencing factor, but only climate change. Which, like also explored above, influenced the financial situation people find themselves in. This worsened financial status then leaves people more vulnerable to conflict and violence, as - according to the human security report (1994) - homelessness is the most severe form of economic insecurity and leaves people without protection from people with ill intentions. In addition to this, poverty can also be a factor in one's decision to join armed forces, as these will usually provide commodities such as food and accommodation. This way,

the interaction between conflict, climate, food security and economic security is important to analyse due to the tremendous impact it has on populations.

While conflict is most heavily linked with the above-mentioned factors, violence is however not. The violence mentioned within the analysed documents mainly had influence on the personal security of the non-combatants. This of course is again a relationship that is to be expected, as violence often – and especially in conflict – is aimed at people, and the very definition of personal security is the protection against violence. In an example "thousands of women and girls who survived the brutal rule of Boko Haram have since been further abused by the Nigerian security forces" (Amnesty International, 2018, p. 1). Here the abuse of the women portrays both the violence and the suffering of personal security of the women. In another case, people "risk being assaulted, injured or killed by improvised devices, or robbed", which like in the previous example does not mention violence specifically, but does imply it, and the personal security of people is obviously impacted (ICRC, 2022b, p. 3). The threat of violence can become so substantial that there can arise an occasion where "the situation is most critical to the 400.000 displaced people across the country, who have been forced from their homes because of violence" (ICRC, 2022a, p. 1). Like mentioned before, homelessness and thus also displacement have a very serious impact on people's daily lives and can therefore not be underestimated as a consequence of violence. This displacement is not only increasing the insecurity of the people fleeing, but can also be a burden on the people taking them in (International Rescue Committee, 2016) These "generous communities have taken them in, sharing what little resources and assets they have. The host population themselves are therefore very vulnerable, and the economic situation is [...] plunging them in to hunger" (International Rescue Committee, 2016, p. 4). This way, the suffering also spreads to areas that might not be in conflict or insecurity yet, and could potentially spread the harm being done.

Another potential source of violence causing insecurity is when "security risks along the main supply routes continue to limit the imports of basic foodstuffs on the markets that rely heavily on these arrivals to function, [which causes that] prices are at record levels" (International Rescue Committee, 2023b, p. 9). Because the food products are less frequently – or not at all – delivered to the markets, the food becomes increasingly scarce which drives up the prices. On the other hand, the products not reaching the markets, also makes that they are not being sold and therefore livelihood is lost for the person producing the goods, and therefore impacting their financial position and economic security. This way, the violence does not necessarily have to direct attack certain people but can also threaten certain roads in order to decreases the security of the people. This is an example of how, "violence in the Sahel is not only fuelling the food crisis, in many places it is instigating one" (ICRC, 2022c, p. 2). This because in certain regions, such as "the northern regions of Burkina Faso, between 30% and 50% of land under cultivation has been lost due to insecurity" and violence (ICRC, 2022c, p. 3). Similarly, "hundreds of thousands of people have seen their livelihoods disrupted as agricultural land became inaccessible due to the threat of violence" (ICRC, 2022c, p. 3). This showcases that violence does not even have to be executed in order to influence security, the threat of violence is already enough to leave a mark on people's lives. Summarising this "it is civilians, as usual, who bear the brunt of this spiralling violence. Not only do they face targeted killings, kidnappings, displacement, looting, death or injury from mines and harassment by the various armed groups, but also restrictions on their movements and access to basic services such as healthcare and food supplies" (MSF, 2019, p. 13).

Lastly, it is of utmost importance to the research to analyse and discuss the relation between human security and weaponization to be able to come to an answer to the research question. Since there are only limited mentions of weaponization in the body of texts, there have again not been many relations found, but the relations that have been found seem to be essential to the research. Once again, the most linked with weaponization within the human security theory, have been laid with food security. This can be explained by the fact that the weaponization of water over often abuses water and leaves it useless for human consumption, and therefore it impacts food security through the increase of water scarcity. Especially this type of weaponization occurs a significant number of times in Burkina Faso, and more specifically in Djibo. Here, Burkina Faso [...] saw a significant ramping up of attacks on water facilities as a tactic to forcible displace communities" (UNICEF, 2023, p. 5). This resulted in "223.000 people [having] seen their access to safe water severely restricted in March 2022 when 12 waterworks were sabotaged" (International Rescue Committee, 2023b, p. 10). These events have, however, not been limited to Djibo, but have occurred in other regions in Burkina Faso as well. "In Burkina Faso, a water crisis can be observed on a national level. In certain regions affected by conflict, water points are being destroyed, while the deterioration of water infrastructures in other places is having a severe impact on people's daily lives" (ICRC, 2022c, p. 3). In some cases, the scarcity – while not only caused by the weaponization, it has been worsened - causes "people [to] wait in line for 72 hours to access boreholes" and "should the situation deteriorate further, [they] are facing the real possibility of people and animals dying of thirst" (ICRC, 2022c, p. 3). Through these testimonies, it is clear that the weaponization does indeed impact people's access to drinking water that is already incredibly scarce. As far as has been recorded, "fifty-eight water points were attacked in Burkina Faso in 2022, up from 21 in 2021 and three in 2020" (UNICEF, 2023, p. 5). This shows an increasing trend and thus an increasing impact on the scarcity of drinking water and food insecurity. This trend also suggests that events like these are likely to happen more frequently in the future, increasing the impact this will have on the population suffering its consequences. In addition to this, the local water points have not been the only target of armed groups as "UNICEF-supported water trucks have been burned, and water storage facilities destroyed" (UNICEF, 2023, p. 5). Which means that

even humanitarian aid is – on occasion – under attack by armed forces. In addition to this having an impact on the food security, the health of especially children is also at stake, as "unsafe water can cause malnutrition or make it worse, no matter how much food a malnourished child eats, he or she will not get better if the water they are drinking is not safe" (UNICEF, 2017, p. 2). Again, this way the impact of water weaponization trickles through the human security framework, impacting more than immediately visible.

Another instance where water weaponization has impacted food security are in the north eastern region of Nigeria where "75 per cent of water sanitation infrastructure in conflict-affected areas has been damaged or destroyed, leaving 3.8 million people with no access to safe water" (UNICEF, 2017, p. 2). These attacks, are also important to take into account, as first of all, it signifies that water weaponization is a phenomenon that is not limited to Burkina Faso, but that also Sahelian countries are affected. More importantly, this is the infrastructure that is impacted, and therefore it can be expected that these attacks hinder more people than attacks on a single water storage place, as more water is processed in these sites, and therefore impacting the life of 3.8 million people. Another example of weaponization in Nigeria impacting food security, is the one mentioned above about the internally displaced women being raped after accepting food and water from government forces. However, this does not impact their access to food and water alone, being raped also has a tremendous impact on the physical security of a person, and therefore definitely also impacts the personal security on top of the food security. Although this is more on a personal level and does not impact millions like the previous example, it is an interesting perspective to take, as in this case water - or food - was not taken away or restricted by the men as was the case before, but given, making the interaction between perpetrator and victim completely different. This distinction, points towards the fact that this form of weaponization falls under a different and distinct category: weaponization as a means of extortion. Where the aforementioned instances of attacks on water infrastructures – whether they

are attacks on sanitation systems or water storages or points – they are most likely not used for extortion, as, like mentioned before, displacement was the goal. The categories of weaponization that more likely fit the attacks on water infrastructure and collection points are psychological terror, strategic weaponization of unintentional weaponization, like discussed previously. It is also a possibility that some of these categories overlap, as psychological terror can very well be used as a tactic in an overall strategy of weaponization. Potentially making the attacks both a means to instil psychological terror among a population, and a strategic move of weaponization in order to serve political and military objectives of the perpetrators. However, since there is not enough information to determine which one of these categories the attack actually fall into, more research is needed to provide a conclusion on this.

Relatively different from the aforementioned examples, in Mali, nonstate armed groups have acted as "state-like entities that build and maintain their legitimacy in the local community by providing some basic public services, such as land and water management and justice systems" (International Rescue Committee, 2023a, p. 9). In this case, the aim is not to harm the population like was the goal in the other examples, but the aim is to gain the trust and support of the citizens of the area where these services are provided. Here, the metaphorical carrot is used rather than the stick. According to the literature, this tactic is used in insurgencies to gain the support of the people and showcasing that their leadership is superior over that of the government, since these are often lacking in those services or protection (Kiras, 2009). This support of the population and the services provided increase the legitimacy of the armed insurgency in the area or even country, and while this provision might not typically seem like a form of weaponization, but when successful it does definitely grant an advantage over their government counterpart, and therefore, according to the definition King (2023), provides in his framework, it does constitute to weaponization. Also, since water is used to gain this advantage, this action can also be classified as water weaponization. Within the water

weaponization framework, this approach can again fall under several categories. First of all, it can fall within the same category as the women raped for water, namely extortion or incentivisation, but where the previous example falls under extortion, the provision of services belongs to the other side of the coin, and therefore is incentivisation. This because, the services are provided in order to encourage the population to support the insurgency over the government, in case the water management was only conditional on support, it would start leaning more towards extortion. Since, again, not all information is provided, one cannot be completely sure whether it falls under this specific category, but with the information available, it is highly likely that this is a form of incentivisation. In the case that this is indeed incentivisation, an interesting relationship can be found between the weaponization and human security. This because the armed groups, that, according to the analysis, otherwise cause an incredible amount of harm and negative impact on the human security in the region, actually have a positive impact on the situation. Due to the water management efforts, the provision of water should be more effective and therefore, increase the food security through the rising availability of clean drinking water. Consequently, this should then also affect the personal security since people are no longer forced to travel great distances, or wait for days to acquire some drinking water. When having safely acquired the water, and having it more available, health security and economic security will also be impacted as has been determined above. Even political security is then affected as there are people making sure that the basic needs of the people are met. While having to do little with water, the justice system in mentioned in the example, can ensure safety and provide repercussions for threats to safety. One other way this incentivisation can impact people is through community security, which might deteriorate when not all communities are provided with the same services, although there is no evidence in the research for this. With all this, it is necessary to note that while supporting insurgents can definitely result in short-term benefits, it is to be expected that there might be repercussions from the state if the territory is ever reconquered.

All in all, it can be said that human security has proven to be a significant issue in both the Central Sahel and the Lake Chad Basin, for NGOs as well as for the people living in the region themselves. In this mainly the lack of food security and personal security are indicated to cause problems for the civilian population, with climate change, armed conflict and violence being significant influencing factors. However, these are not the only impactful factors when speaking of human security, as there is also an interrelatedness within the framework with various categories having an effect on each other. This way, when an event impacts one category, this can indirectly also influence the security of people more broadly. Lastly, weaponization does on occasion also significantly impact human security - especially in Burkina Faso and Nigeria as the access to water is further restricted by the destruction of water collection points or sanitation systems, deteriorating the food security in the area. Alternatively, weaponization of water can also have a positive impact on the food security, when food is provided in exchange for support and it is used as an incentive. However, when food is provided in order to do harm, the food provision falls short compared to the harm done to the personal security.

6.4 Water Weaponization

As has been discussed before, even though it might appear to not occur at frequently as in other places in the world, NGOs have recorded a number of incidents that each have a significant impact on people living in the Sahel. While it is interesting to see that food security is impacted so greatly by water weaponization in Burkina Faso and Nigeria, and that water weaponization increases the food security on occasion in Mali, there are other relationships – or the lack thereof – that should be explored as well.⁴ Starting with tactical weaponization, as even though weaponization would indicate a military use, and the theory also assumes that more opposing combatants are involved, within the analysed texts, there has been only one mention of a potential case of tactical

⁴ The data that this analysis is based on can be found in appendix 2, table 5.

weaponization (King, 2023). Meaning that perpetrators in the Sahel either do not see, or do not use, the water weapon as something to be used against an armed opponent, but against the civilian population, and either threatening them, or making them comply with the objectives of the armed forces. It does however, have to be acknowledged that since the government forces and institutions have mostly abandoned the regions of conflict, this limits the opportunities for insurgencies or armed non-state actors to use water weaponization tactically.

Additionally, the fact that the phenomenon has, in these documents, only been recorded in Mali, Nigeria and Burkina Faso, does not mean that it does not occur in the other countries that are analysed. It simply means that the reports did not cover the phenomenon of water weaponization in those countries. Whether water weaponization is an issue of interest in countries like Chad, Cameroon and Niger remains to be seen, as more research is needed in order to determine this. However, the fact that it is happening in Mali and Burkina Faso, indicates that the Central Sahel is indeed targeted by the phenomenon, and that it is possible that also Niger has to suffer the consequences. The same goes for Chad and Cameroon, especially because the area of conflict around Lake Chad spread over the four countries is relatively small, and therefore this tool of warfare could spread more easily. Even when water weaponization as a weapon is not used in a certain area, does not mean this area does not feel the consequences, due to the fact that in the area drinking water is scarce everywhere and still needs to be shared among the same number of people. Making that in total, more people suffer than only the ones directly hit by the water weapon.

Then, the relationship between water weaponization and conflict and violence is also one important to discuss. This because one would expect that the analysis shows that there is a strong connection between both weaponization and violence as well as weaponization and conflict, but this does not appear to be the case according to the analysis. The research indicates that only one direct

58

connection is found between conflict and weaponization, while conflict, of course, lays at the foundation of the reason for using such a weapon, and therefore more links are to be expected. Similarly, violence is only recorded in a third of the weaponization events, while weaponization would seem to include violence. However, for example, contamination of a water source, or providing water management services to a population, of course has nothing to do with violence. This opposed to, water weaponization in a rampage, or weaponizing water by threatening the personal security of a person through warning shots or worse, rape. However, the analysis does show that – with or without violence – in most cases, weaponization in the Sahel comes from ill intention towards civilians. The analysis gave only one exception to this, which is the case of weaponization through provision of water in exchange for support and legitimacy for the armed non-state group.

On top of this, it is important to mention that, besides the influence water weaponization has on the human security framework, the impact of this weaponization is also influences by factors such as environmental security. This because, the condition of the land due to, among others, climate change is significantly different than it has been before. Water is a resource that is already scarce in such an arid region, that has less regular precipitation and more extreme weather events than in the past. This makes that a 'waste of water', which water weaponization is many cases is, is more effective as a relatively greater portion of the total amount of available water is either wasted or drastically decreased in quality, compared to a region or time when more water was available to the population. This makes that water weaponization is most effective, and therefore influential, when the climate and conditions are already dry and water scarce. In this way the human security framework and water weaponization, at least to a certain extent, have a relationship of influence that works both ways.

In the end, water weaponization does have an influence on the human security of the Sahel in various ways, but while weaponization can be expected to be targeted towards military objectives, in the Sahel, it is mostly used again the civilian population. Apart from this, weaponization is not necessarily violent but does usually affect the human security of the civilians negatively, with the analysis recording one exception. Then, the relationship between human security and water weaponization does not solely work one way, but the impact of weaponization is also influenced by human security factors, and whether this was already negatively impacted or not. Finally, the analysis clearly shows that water weaponization does indeed have an impact on the human security in the Sahel, with the most direct relationship with food security. This impact trickling down to the other human security categories – like economic security and health security, which are heavily related to food security – the impact of the water weaponization becomes greater and greater, albeit at times indirect.

7. Discussion

The above content and discourse analysis aims to provide results with the goal to draw a conclusion whether the weaponization of water influences the human security, and its categories, in the Sahel. This with a focus on the personal perspective of the local civilians in order to determine what form of insecurity impacts them the most, and whether water weaponization has any impact on this. The result discussed above indicate that there is indeed such a relationship, meaning that water weaponization does impact human security, and mostly through food security and to a lesser extent personal and political security. The content analysis suggests that the relationship between the two concepts is more than just correlation as quotes from the analysed documents state that as a consequence of water weaponization people were left without access to drinking water, directly impacting their food security. The research does, however, also demonstrate indirect links between water weaponization and human security, as a lack of access to drinking water, like mentioned before, also seems to impact personal, economic and health security according to the analysis. Civilians did not speak about water weaponization often, but did mention it on occasion,

indicating that it does happen and has an impact on the people. In almost all cases, this impact is negative and therefore decreases the human security of the population, but in one instance, a positive outcome could be detected as water management services were provided.

This means that water weaponization, even though it is only recorded by NGOs on limited occasions and recorded by civilians in those reports even less, does seem to impact the human security in the Sahel – both in the Central Sahel and in the Lake Chad area. This can be either directly or indirectly, depending on the event of weaponization and its consequences and the type of human security that is being considered. And while the positive influence of water weaponization is worth mentioning, this seems to be a rare exception when compared to the cases where it does harm to the people living in the affected area. This way, the actors using the water weapon take their advantage from the fact that the civilian population in the area is caught between both conflict and climate change - which increases the scarcity of water of sufficient quantity and quality -, exploiting both phenomena to use the water weapon to their own benefit. In some cases, the impact of the events of water weaponization affect the lives of up to 3.8 million people, as mentioned in the analysis. Seeing as this is a significant number of people, it seems the impact of water weaponization can be quite far in reach. On other occasions, while the impact is definitely not less significant, it only impacts one person, like the case of the Nigerian displaced woman being raped. This shows that water weaponization can be used in very different ways, and can have impact on different scales and different human security categories.

As mentioned before, the existing literature on the topic of water weaponization is extremely limited, although not non-existent, and like the result of this analysis, King (2023) indicated that water has indeed been weaponized in Nigeria. However, a case study of the wider region of the Sahel with his framework has not been conducted yet, giving no material for comparison. Taking this in mind, the addition of the human security theory to the research, makes that there is nothing to compare the research to, as this personal perspective has not been taken yet on this topic. This does mean that the research adds to the existing body of literature, adding in the climate-conflict nexus, human security scholarship but also the work on water weaponization. All this, in accordance with the requirement set by Su & Gagné (2019) who demand a more personal perspective on issues involving the climate-conflict nexus. Therefore, the gap that has been identified and filled with this research can be regarded as a starting point for increasing research on the topics of water weaponization and a more human and personal focus on the climate-conflict nexus. This increasing research is needed as more insight into the reality of these topics, can provide useful knowledge in order to tackle these sorts of problems on the ground and aid people in helping the civilians.

While this research can be a good starting point for future research, there are limitations to both the analysis and, mostly, the methods used to get to these results. The first of which is the main methods and sources used to conduct the analysis, being the discourse and content analysis of NGO output. Like mentioned in the limitations section of the methodology, the ideal method to be used for the collection of a personal perspective in a situation like this is ethnography. While this is not feasible within the time limitations of a master's dissertation, the second-best option would have been to conduct interviews with people that have been in a situation where water was weaponized, and would be able to describe their perspective on the matter. However, this was also not within the possibilities due to restrictions put on the dissertation as well as barriers including language and space. The NGO reports and the content analysis that was done on them, was an acceptable alternative, but of course cannot measure up to a true first-hand source. Another issue that comes from the NGO reports is that the information from the personal narratives has been filtered by the NGO and only part of the description is published, which could lead to the filtering out of essential information for the research.

On top of this, while there was a significant number of civilian perspectives presented in the documents, more accounts on the topic of water weaponization would have been incredibly valuable to the validity of the research. This because twelve events of water weaponization can be considered to be too small a sample size to drawn a valid conclusion as these twelve cases might be exceptions to the rule or give a false representation of the number of types of cases. Following this, a higher number of civilian perspectives regarding the weaponization of water could have given more clarity about the way it impacted them, as this was often not mentioned, although implied. In addition to this, accounts of (former) insurgent members regarding the topic of research, can give an incredible insight on the reasons behind the attack, so that the events can also be classified with more certainty. This would be valuable insofar that this would expand the base of analysis, as these variables can then also be more included in the research and its outcomes. Meaning that it could be analysed whether certain types of attacks have impact on different categories of the water weaponization framework, which would increase the validity of the research.

Another limitation of the methodology, and specifically the data collection, is that the number as well as types or documents are incredibly limited. A variation in the sources could potentially result in different outcomes due to the diverging focuses that different forms of media might have. The addition of other media such as regular media reports or social media posts to the analysis can give a more complete image of the situation as there is a greater sample to collect information from. This could also give a perspective given by people inside the community through local news outlets or social media posts created by local civilians or even insurgents, instead of being displayed by a foreign, global organisation. Which could give an added layer of significance to the research and the personal perspective it aims to portray. The inclusion of these materials would, however, significantly increase the time needed for the analysis and also increase the methods needed to extract the information from

the collected sources. This diversification would make the research more valid, as it is likely to cover a wider audience within the local population and therefore recording more experiences and identify more cases of water weaponization, if they have happened.

All in all, while the mentioned limitations do have an impact on the research and its validity, and the improvements that could come from it could definitely improve the research in terms of validity, this does not mean that the results are invalid altogether. As the selected documents for this research do prove that incidents of water weaponization have happened in approximately the last decade, and that they do also have an impact on the human security in the region, whether this is impactful or millions or only a few. The credibility of the sources does help in this, as it can at least be assumed that the statements that have been made, and used in the analysis are true, signifying that in the end the research question can be answered. This answer is discussed in the following section, which also includes some recommendation for further research that can follow up on this analysis.

8. Conclusion

This research aimed to determine whether the consequences of water weaponization – according to King's (2023) framework and definition – has an impact on the human security landscape in the Sahel region in Africa. Through a discourse and content analysis on texts – in the form of reports and web page content – published by international NGOs the research aimed to provide a personal perspective on the matter, giving space to the opinions and concerns of the local population. While there are methods better fit to explore this, within the time and resources available for this project, the methods used were more feasible and still gave results that lead to a conclusion. The perspective of the NGOs and the differences between them, also provided interesting and relevant insight into how human security is influenced in the area. This shed light on the possible ways that human security could be impacted by water weaponization, making it essential in answering the research question. In this way, the chosen methods are providing all the necessary information for the research. All this leads to the conclusion that weaponization of water mostly impacts the human security of civilians in the Sahel region through food security, with personal and political security being impacts to a lesser extent. Adding to this that food security is also the top concern of the local population, weaponization definitely does leave its mark on the region.

Clearly illustrating this impact, this does raise questions about whether there are further impacts of water weaponization on the region and the people living in it, and whether these tactics are taken into account by actors such as the NGOs but also government institutions fighting the insurgent groups. On the other hand, it would be interesting to find out the perspective of the insurgent, or abuser of the drinking water, about their motives to use such a weapon, making the classification of the water weaponization events also more relevant to the analysis and conclusion. Another question that is raised through this research is whether the insurgents intentionally weaponize water or that it is more a consequence of other tactics and weapons they use. Lastly, it would be interesting to find out how water weaponization impacts the people within the insurgent groups, and the larger organisation as well. All these questions that are raised as a consequence of this research, can serve as further research concerns and questions in order to broaden the body of literature and knowledge on this water weaponization-human security nexus. Also adding to the larger scholarship on the climate-conflict nexus during the ongoing conflict, which could benefit incredibly from additional literature, as this is currently still limited.

Apart from broadening the scholarship on the water weaponizationhuman security nexus, further research could also focus on the deepening of the research done in this project, meaning that the limitations mentioned in the discussion can be taken into account and adjusted for. This would create more inclusive and elaborate results and therefore a more valid conclusion, due to a larger number of sources to gather data from, but also a more varied body of documents. This could be done in the Sahel again, to also gather information about a larger number of events including water weaponization, or in another region in the world which is impacted by both climate change and armed conflict. However, the Sahel region is, at the moment, lacking important research being done into water weaponization and could therefore be a case study in which a significant contribution can be made to the existing literature. Adding to the literature – while this is of course always essential – is incredibly important in this case as a growing trend of water weaponization can be seen in the analysis, indicating that this issue will occur more often in the future and will thus become more impactful on people's lives.

Reflecting on the literature review, the conclusion drawn from the results adds to the existing literature in the research into the climate-conflict nexus, focusing on ongoing conflict. More specifically, this research adds to the incredibly limited water weaponization literature, as well as the literature on what factors influence human security in conflicts where climate change also plays a significant role. Due to the increasing frequency of water weaponization occurrences, more attention needs to be paid to the topic in order to gain more knowledge and build strategies against the phenomenon, making sure that this problem is tackled and mitigate the impact it has on people's lives. This not only in the academic community, but also on the policy level of the international as well as the national level, and the humanitarian spheres, in order to work towards a world where water weaponization is something of the past. This research is a starting point for this further research, points towards the importance of the topic and hopes to contribute to a future where water weaponization is actively handled. In the end, like international law states, essential natural resources, should not be used as a weapon of war, but clearly this is not reality.

Reference List

- Additional Protocol II (1977). Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of Non-International Armed Conflicts (Protocol II), June 8, 1977, <u>https://ihldatabases.icrc.org/en/ihl-treaties/apii-1977</u>
- Alkire, S. (2003). A Conceptual Framework for Human Security. *Centre for Research on Inequality, Human Security and Ethnicity.*
- Amnesty International (2018, May 24). Nigeria: Starving Women Raped by Soldiers and Militia who Claim to be Rescuing Them. Amnesty International. <u>https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2018/05/nigeria-starving-</u> women-raped-by-soldiers-and-militia-who-claim-to-be-rescuing-them/
- Asah, S. T. (2015). Transboundary Hydro-Politics and Climate Change Rhetoric: An Emerging Hydro-Security Complex in the Lake Chad Basin. WIREs Water, 2, 37-45. https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1057
- Augsten, L., Gagné, K., & Su, Y. (2022). The Human Dimensions of the Climate Risk and Armed Conflict Nexus: A Review Article. *Regional Environmental Change*, 22(2), 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-022-01888-1</u>
- Ayoob, M. (2004). Third World Perspectives on Humanitarian Intervention and International Administration. *Global Governance, (10),* 99-118.
- Benjaminsen, T. A. & Svarstad, H. (2021). Climate Change, Scarcity and Conflicts in the Sahel. In *Political Ecology* (pp. 183-205). Palgrave MacMillan.
- Birkman, L., Nevitt, M. P., King, M. D., Schmeier, S. & Mia, I. (2022, February8). *Climate change and weaponization of natural resources*. IISS

Webinar, online. <u>https://www.iiss.org/events/2022/02/climate-change-</u> and-weaponization-of-natural-resources

- Bowles, D. C., Butler, C. D. & Morisetti, N. (2015). Climate Change, Conflict and Health. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine 108*(10), 390-395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0141076815603234</u>
- Brown, O., Hammill, A., & McLeman, R. (2007). Climate Change as the 'New' Security Threat: Implications for Africa. *International Affairs*, 83(6), 1141-1154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2346.2007.00678.x</u>
- Brussels Declaration (1874). Project of an International Declaration Concerning the Laws and Customs of War, August 27, 1874, <u>https://ihldatabases.icrc.org/en/ihl-treaties/brussels-decl-</u> 1874?activeTab=historical
- Chalecki, E. (2002) A New Vigilance: Identifying and Reducing the Risks of Environmental Terrorism. *Global Environmental Politics 2*(1), 46–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/152638002317261463</u>.
- Chandra, A., McNamara, K., Dargusch, P., Caspe, A., Dalabajan, D. (2017)
 Gendered Vulnerabilities of Smallholder Farmers to Climate Change in
 Conflict-Prone Areas: A Case Study from Mindanao, Philippines. *Journal of Rural Studies* 50, 45–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2016.12.011</u>
- Climate Diplomacy (2021, July 29). The Sahel: Climate Change, (In) Security and Migrations. *Climate Diplomacy*. <u>https://climatediplomacy.org/magazine/conflict/sahel-climate-change-insecurity-andmigrations</u>
- Cole, A. (2021). Weaking of the Nation-State by Climate Change: Water Weaponization by ISIL. The Dartmouth Undergraduate Journal of Politics, Economics and World Affairs, 1(111), 135-157.

Combs, C. C. (2023). Terrorism in the Twenty-First Century. Routledge: New York. <u>https://books.google.nl/books?hl=nl&lr=&id=Rb5zEAAAQBAJ&oi=f</u> <u>nd&pg=PT23&dq=terrorism+definition&ots=IV8fd-</u> <u>yLSD&sig=ss8RYb9JuOsGHP09sPmbXhEPVag#v=onepage&q=terro</u> rism%20definition&f=false

- Daoudy, M. (2020). Water weaponization in the Syrian conflict: strategies of domination and cooperation. *International Affairs*, *96*(5), 1347-1366.
- De Châtel, F. (2014) The Role of Drought and Climate Change in the Syrian Uprising: Untangling the Triggers of the Revolution. *Middle Eastern Studies 50*(4), 521–535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00263206.2013.850076</u>
- Farhat, B. (April 4, 2023). Egypt, Sudan hold joint military drills as Nile dispute with Ethiopia drags on. *Al-Monitor*. <u>https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2023/04/egypt-sudan-hold-joint-military-drills-nile-dispute-ethiopia-drags</u>
- Gerring, J. (2004). What is a case study and what is it good for? American Political Science Review, 98(2), 341-354. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055404001182
- Gilbert, E. (2015). The Militarization of Climate Change. ACME: An International Journal for Critical Geographies, 11(1), 1-14.
- Gleick, P. H. (2019) Water as a Weapon and Casualty of Conflict: Freshwater and International Humanitarian Law. *Water Resource Management 33*, 1737-1751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11269-019-02212-z</u>
- Gleick, P. H., & Heberger, M. (2014). Water and conflict: events, trends, and analysis (2011–2012). The World's Water: The Biennial Report on Freshwater Resources, 159-171.

Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect (2023, May 31). Central Sahel (Burkina Faso, Mali and Niger). *Global Centre for the Responsibility to Protect*. <u>https://www.globalr2p.org/countries/mali/</u>

- Gupta, J. (2010). A History of International Climate Change Policy. WIREs Climate Change, 1(5), 636-653. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.67</u>
- Hampson, F. O. (2012). Human security. In P. D. Williams (Eds.), Security studies (pp. 301-316). Routledge.
- Hauge, W. & Ellingsen, T. (1998). Beyond Environmental Scarcity: Causal Pathways to Conflict. *Journal of Peace Research*, 35(3), 299-317.
- Homer-Dixon, T. F. (1994). Environmental Scarcities and Violent Conflict: Evidence from Cases. *International Security*, 19(1), 5-40.
- ICRC (2020). When Rain Turns to Dust. ICRC.
- International Committee of the Red Cross (2016, October 13). Dispatch: On the ground in Lake Chad. *ICRC*. <u>https://www.icrc.org/en/document/dispatch_LakeChad_PeterMaurer</u>
- International Committee of the Red Cross (2019, January 22). Mali-Niger: Climate Change and Conflict Make and Explosive Mix in the Sahel. *ICRC*. <u>https://www.icrc.org/en/document/mali-niger-climate-change-</u> and-conflict-make-explosive-mix-sahel
- International Committee of the Red Cross (2020). When Rain Turns to Dust. ICRC.

<u>https://www.icrc.org/sites/default/files/topic/file_plus_list/rain_turns_t</u> <u>o_dust_climate_change_conflict.pdf</u>

International Committee of the Red Cross (2022a, October 27,). Mali: ICRC President visits as Climate Change and Conflict Force People in the Sahel into Desperate State. *ICRC*. <u>https://www.icrcnewsroom.org/story/en/2034/mali-icrc-president-</u> visits-as-climate-change-and-conflict-force-people-in-the-sahel-intodesperate-state/0/40eE8Rkd0B?mc_phishing_protection_id=28047cdd9e4idu81c279lhae0&utm_source=twitter&utm_medium=social&li nkId=100000158844969

- International Committee of the Red Cross (2022b, November 16). Climate Change in Mali: "We Drilled Deep but Found Nothing. *ICRC*. <u>https://www.icrc.org/en/document/climate-change-mali-we-drilled-</u> <u>deep-found-nothing</u>
- International Committee of the Red Cross (2022c, May 12). Sahel: A Food Crisis Fuelled by Conflict is set to worsen during lean period. *ICRC*. <u>https://www.icrc.org/en/document/sahel-food-crisis-fueled-conflict-set-worsen-during-lean-period</u>
- International Rescue Committee (2016). Lake Chad's Unseen Crisis: Voices of Refugees and Internally Displaced People from Niger and Nigeria. *International Rescue Committee*. <u>https://www.rescue.org/sites/default/files/document/1561/lakechadsuns</u> <u>eencrisis.pdf</u>
- International Rescue Committee (2023a). Watchlist Insight: Climate and Humanitarian Crisis in the Central Sahel. International Rescue Committee. <u>https://www.rescue.org/eu/report/watchlist-insight-climate-and-humanitarian-crisis-central-sahel</u>
- International Rescue Committee (2023b). West Africa: Emergency Report 2023. International Rescue Committee. https://www.rescue.org/report/irc-west-africa-emergency-report
- Khong, Y. F. (2001). Human Security: A Shotgun Approach to Alleviating Human Misery? *Global Governance*, 7(3), 231-236.

- King, M. D. & Burnell, J. (2017). Epicentres of Climate Change and Security: The New Geostrategic Landscape of the Anthropocene. *The Center for Climate and Security*.
- King, M. D. (2015). The Weaponization of Water in Syria and Iraq. *The Washington Quarterly*, 38(4), 153-169. https://doi.org/10.1080/0163660X.2015.1125835
- King, M. D. (2023). Weaponizing Water: Water Stress and Islamic Extremist Violence in Africa and the Middle East. Lynne Rienner Publishers, Boulder. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/9781955055949</u>
- Kiras, J. D. (2007). Irregular Warfare: Terrorism and Insurgency. Understanding Modern Warfare 224, 186-207.
- Koubi, V., Spilker, G, Böhmelt, T. & Bernauer, T. (2013). Do Natural Resources matter for Interstate and Intrastate Armed Conflict? *Journal* of Peace Research, 51(2), 227-243.
- Kusumawardani, N. (2017). The Importance of Integrating Environmental Security to Human Security Based Policy in Managing Humanitarian Crisis: The Case of the Lake Chad Basin. *AEGIS Journal of International Relations 2*(1), 85-96. https://doi.org/10.33021/aegis.v2i1.281
- Lieber F (1863) Instructions for the government of armies of the United States, in the field. United States War Dept; United States Adjutant-General's Office. D. Van Nostrand, New York. Retrieved from https://archive. org/details/governarmies00unitrich. Accessed 1 July 2023.
- Mack, A. (2005). *Human Security Report 2005: War and Peace in the 21st Century*. Oxford University Press, New York.

- Medecins Sans Frontières (2019). International Activity Report 2019. MSF https://www.msf.org/international-activity-report-2019
- Médecins Sans Frontières (2021, June 3). Burkina Faso: How Conflict and Climate Change are Worsening a Water Crisis. *MSF*. <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/burkina-faso/burkina-faso-how-conflict-</u> and-climate-change-are-worsening-water-crisis
- Medecins Sans Frontières (2022, November 14). Urgent Actions Needed in Mitigate Deadly Consequences of Climate Change. MSF. <u>https://www.msf.org/climate-change-conflict-and-health-emergencies-</u> <u>prove-deadly-mix-most-vulnerable</u>
- Medecins Sans Frontières (2023, May 25). A Crisis in the Making: MSF and the Global Health Impact of Climate Change. *MSF*. <u>https://www.doctorswithoutborders.ca/a-crisis-in-the-making-msf-and-</u> <u>the-global-health-impact-of-climate-change/</u>
- Mellos, K. (1988). Neo-Malthusian Theory. Perspectives on ecology: A critical essay, 15-42. <u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-349-19598-5_2</u>
- ND-GAIN (2023). Country Index. Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative. https://gain.nd.edu/our-work/country-index/
- Newman, E. (2010). Critical Human Security Studies. *Review of International Studies*, *36*(1), 77-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0260210509990519</u>
- Nordås, R. & Gleditsch, N. P. (2015). Climate Change and Conflict. In Hartard,
 S. & Liebert, W. (Eds.), *Competition and Conflict on Resource Use* (pp. 21-38). Springer International. 10.1007/978-3-319-10954-1_3
- Norwegian Refugee Council (2018). Stabilisation in the Lake Chad Basin. NRC. https://www.nrc.no/globalassets/pdf/reports/stabilisation-in-the-lakechad-basin/2018-briefing-note_stabilisation-in-the-lake-chad-basin.pdf

- O'Neill, B. C., Carter, T. R., Ebi, K., Harrison, P. A., Kemp-Benedict, E., Kok, K., Kriegler, E., Preston, B. L., Riahi, K., Sillamnn, J., Van Ruijven, B. J., Van Vuuren, D., Carlisle, D., Conde, C., Fuglestvedt, J., Green, C., Hasegawa, T., Leininger, J., Monteith, S., & Pichs-Madruga, R. (2020). Achievements and Needs for the Climate Change Scenario Framework. *Nature Climate Change*, *10*, 1074-1084.
- Onuoha, F. C. (2012). The Audacity of the Boko Haram: Background, Analysis and Emerging Trend. *Security Journal*, 25, 134-151.
- Pacific Institute (2022) Water Conflict Chronology. Pacific Institute, Oakland, CA. https://www.worldwater.org/water-conflict/. Accessed: 9 June 2023
- Peoples, C., & Vaughan-Williams, N. (2010). Critical Security Studies: An Introduction. Routledge.
- Persaud, R. B. (2016). Human Security. In A. Collins (Eds.), Contemporary Security Studies (pp. 139-181). Oxford University Press.
- Raleigh, C. (2010). Political Marginalisation, Climate Change, and Conflict in African Sahel States. *International Studies Review*, *12*(1), 69-86.
- Report of the Commission on Human Security (2005). *Human Security Now: Protecting and Empowering People.* United Nations, New York.
- Riebe, K. & Dressel, A. (2021). The impact on food security of a shrinking Lake Chad. Journal of Arid Envisonments, 189, 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1016/l.jaridenv.2021.104486
- Samuel, M. (2022). Boko Haram's Deadly Business: An Economy of Violence in the Lake Chad Basin. *Institute for Security Studies*, 1-27.
- Save the Children (2020). The Central Sahel: A Children's Crisis. Save the Children. <u>https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/document/central-sahel-childrens-crisis/</u>

- Save the Children (2022, April 5). Joint Press Release: West Africa Faces its Worst Food Crisis in Ten Years, with over 27 million People Already Suffering from Hunger. Save the Children. <u>https://www.savethechildren.net/news/joint-press-release-west-africa-faces-its-worst-food-crisis-ten-years-over-27-million-people</u>
- Schindler, D. & Toman, J. (1988) The Laws of Armed Conflicts: A Collection of Conventions, Resolutions and Other Documents; Fourth Revised and Completed Edition. Brill.
- Schmid, A. P. (2011). *The Definition of Terrorism*. In: The Routledge Handbook of Terrorism Research. Routledge: London. <u>https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/edit/10.4324/9780203828731/rou</u> <u>tledge-handbook-terrorism-research-alex-schmid?refId=30a3fc61-</u> f310-4702-a4ce-65b377752997&context=ubx
- Schulman, S. (2021) Yemenis' Daily Struggles Between Conflict and Climate Change. The RUSI Journal, 166(1), 82-92. https://doi.org/10.1080/03071847.2021.1922196
- Schwartz, D. (1998). Environmental Terrorism: Analyzing the Concept. Journal of Peace Research, 35(4), 483-496.
- Scribbr, (2023). Content Analysis. https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/content-analysis/
- Shanmugha, P. P. (July 26, 2021). An Analysis of the Lake Chad Basin Crisis and a Hydropolitics Powerplay. *Medium*.
- Sherpa, D. (2007) New Vulnerabilities for Mountain Women: A Different Light on the Greater Himalaya. International Center for Integrated Mountain Research Development (ICIMOD), Lalitpur
- Spring, U.O. (2012) Environmentally-Forced Migration in Rural Areas: Security Risks and Threats in Mexico. In: Scheffran, J., Brzoska, M.,

Brauch, H.G., Link, P.M., Schilling, J. (eds) *Climate change, human* security, and violent conflict: challenges for societal stability (pp. 315-350). Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin.

- St. Petersburg Declaration (1868) Declaration Renouncing the Use, in Time of War, of Explosive Projectiles under 400 Grammes in Weight, November 29, 1868, <u>https://ihl-databases.icrc.org/en/ihl-treaties/st-petersburgdecl-1868/declaration</u>
- Su, Y. & Gagné, K. (2019). Understanding and Responding to The Combined Impact of Climate Change and Armed Conflict on People's Lives. *ICRC*.
- Suryani, A. (2013). Comparing case study and ethnography as qualitative research approaches. Jurnal Ilmu Komunikasi, 5(1), 117-127. https://doi.org/10.24002/jik.v5i1.221
- Tadjbakhsh, S. (2013). In Defense of the Broad View of Human Security. In Routledge Handbook of Human Security. (pp. 63-77). Routledge.
- Tadjbakhsh, S., & Chenoy, A. (2007). *Human Secuirty: Concepts and Implications* (Vol. 51). Routledge.
- Theisen, O. M. (2008). Blood and Soil? Resource Scarcity and Internal Armed Conflict Revisited. *Journal of Peace Research*, 45(6), 801-818.
- Unfried, K., Kis-Katos, K., & Poser, T. (2022). Water Scarcity and Social Conflict. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, 113, 102633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2022.102633
- UNHCR (2020, October 29). Sahel Crisis Explained. UNHCR. https://www.unrefugees.org/news/sahel-crisisexplained/#Where%20are%20people%20in%20the%20Sahel%20fleei ng%20to

- UNICEF (2017, March 29). 27 million People Lack Safe Water in Countries Facing or at Risk of Famine. UNICEF. <u>https://www.unicef.org/press-</u> releases/27-million-people-lack-safe-water-countries-facing-or-riskfamine
- UNICEF (2020). The Crisis in the Central Sahel: Advocacy Brief. UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/wca/reports/central-sahel-crisis
- UNICEF (2023). Extreme Jeopardy: Ten Million Children in the Central Sahel need Humanitarian Assistance Amid Spiralling Conflict and Punishing Climate. UNICEF. <u>https://www.unicef.org/child-alert/central-sahelextreme-jeopardy</u>
- United Nations Development Programme (1994). *Human Development Report*. United Nations, New York.
- United Nations Development Programme (2022). New Threats to Human Security in the Anthropocene: Demanding Greater Solidarity. United Nations, New York.
- Usigbe, L. (2019, December 24). Drying Lake Chad Basin gives rise to crisis. *Africa Renewal*. https://www.un.org/africarenewal/magazine/december-2019-march-2020/drying-lake-chad-basin-gives-rise-crisis
- Van Weezel, S. (2019). On Climate and Conflict: Precipitation Decline and Communal Conflict in Ethiopia and Kenya. *Journal of Peach Research*, 56(4), 514-528.
- Von Lossow, T. (2016). The Rebirth of Water as a Weapon: IS in Syria and Iraq. Italian Journal of International Affairs 51(3), 82-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03932729.2016.1213063</u>

- Von Uexkull, N. & Buhaug, H. (2021). Security Implications of Climate Change: A Decade of Scientific Progress. *Journal of Peace Research*, 58(1), 3-17.
- Wilkinson, J. C. (1990). Muslim Land and Water Law. Journal of Islamic Studies, 1, 54-72. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26195667</u>
- Zeitoun, M, Eid-Sabbagh, K., & Loveless, J. (2014). The analytical framework of water and armed conflict: a focus on the 2006 Summer War between Israel and Lebanon. *Disasters (38)*1, 27–30.

Appendix 1

Below are the codes that have been used in the coding for the analysis:

Actors: this category is not coded in itself but only the categories within it. When the groups of actors are coded, this means that these people have been given the opportunity to speak and tell their story in the document. This is order to be able to analyse which actors are given an opportunity to speak.

- Civilians
- NGO workers
- Non-State Actors
- State Actors

Conflict: this code is coded itself and used whenever conflict is mentioned or mentioned to have influence on something or someone.

Country: again, this code is not coded itself, but only the separate categories are. They are used whenever an event is mentioned to have happened in a certain country or specific circumstances are described to be present in a certain country. In this only the countries of analysis are taken into account.

- Burkina Faso
- Cameroon
- Chad
- Mali
- Niger
- Nigeria

Human Security: this category of codes follows the categories discussed in the theoretical framework and the human security theory. It is used whenever something has an impact on one of the categories of human security.

- Community
- Economic
- Environment (in the coding file this is outside of the human security code, but this was a mistake but a lot of effort to change in the end).
- Food
- Health
- Personal
- Political

NGOs: here the publishing NGOs are coded. This is one per article, in order to be able to analyse whether there is a difference of portrayal or content between the different NGOs.

- Amnesty International
- ICRC
- IRC
- MSF
- NRC
- Save the Children
- UNICEF

Violence: this category of codes is used both in the first and second tier (violence itself and its categories), and records the mentioning of violence – which can be either by state or non-state actors – and it also codes when this has an impact on anyone or anything.

- Non-State Actors
- State Actors

Weaponization: in this set of codes both the main code and the sub-codes are used in order to record the instances of the weaponization of water according to the theory of King (2023). This is also coded in combination with a human security code whenever possible in order to be able to analyse whether the weaponization has an impact on human security, which is in the end the main question to be answered.

- Coercive
- Extortion/Incentivisation
- Psychological Terror
- Strategic
- Tactical
- Unintentional

		A: Amnesty V	B:ICRC 🛛	C:IRC 🛛	D:MSF 🛛	E:NRC V	F:StC 🛛	G: UNICEF V
1 : Civilians	V	3	22	12	2	0	3	7
2 : NGO workers	Y	4	14	1	7	0	4	2
3 : Non-State Actors	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
4 : State-Actors	Y	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
5 : Conflict	Y	0	28	19	9	6	4	7
6 : Burkina Faso	Y	0	10	19	8	4	4	10
7 : Cameroon	Y	0	0	3	1	3	0	0
8 : Chad	Y	0	0	10	1	4	1	0
9 : Mali	V	0	24	17	2	6	3	3
10 : Niger	Y	0	9	19	3	4	3	2
11 : Nigeria	Y	8	3	17	3	3	1	2
12 : Environment	Y	0	42	30	18	2	3	2
13 : Community	V	1	11	8	3	0	3	1
14 : Economic	V	1	33	36	5	3	4	1
15 : Food	V	9	37	36	18	3	17	13
16 : Health	V	4	7	11	24	0	9	8
17 : Personal	V	15	21	27	11	2	7	14
18 : Political	V	2	8	7	0	1	3	1
19 : Violence	V	8	26	19	22	8	8	13
20 : Non-State Actors	V	2	4	14	11	8	1	12
21 : State Actors	V	8	0	3	4	2	0	1
22 : Weaponization	V	1	3	3	0	0	0	5
23 : Coercive	V	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
24 : Extortion-Incentivism	V	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
25 : Psychological Terror	V	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
26 : Strategic	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
27 : Tactical	Y	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
28 : Unintentional	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	1

Appendix 2

Table 2 Comparing the codes of the NGO against the other codes.

		A : Civilians 🛛 🖓
1 : Conflict	V	3
2 : Environment	V	5
3 : Community	V	1
4 : Economic	V	11
5 : Food	V	17
6 : Health	V	4
7 : Personal	V	19
8 : Political	V	1
9 : Violence	V	17
10 : Non-State Actors	V	8
11 : State Actors	V	2
12: Weaponization	V	3
13 : Coercive	V	0
14 : Extortion-Incentivism	V	1
15 : Psychological Terror	V	1
16 : Strategic	V	0
17 : Tactical	V	0
18 : Unintentional	V	0

Table 3 Comparing the code of the civilians against the other codes.

		A: Environment V	B: Community V	C: Economic 🛛	D:Food ♥	E:Health ▼	F:Personal ▼	G: Political
1 : Conflict	V	37	8	23	23	10	15	8
2 : Environment	V	97	12	41	30	15	12	9
3 : Community	V	12	27	6	2	0	9	3
4 : Economic	V	41	6	83	37	8	19	8
5 : Food	Y	30	2	37	133	36	26	4
6 : Health	Y	15	0	8	36	63	11	2
7 : Personal	V	12	9	19	26	11	97	6
8 : Political	V	9	3	8	4	2	6	22
9 : Violence	V	9	9	11	25	14	49	4
10 : Non-State Actors	V	1	6	6	10	3	25	5
11 : State Actors	V	0	2	1	7	1	11	0
12 : Weaponization	Y	0	0	0	6	0	1	1
13 : Coercive	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
14 : Extortion-Incentivism	V	0	0	0	1	0	1	1
15 : Psychological Terror	V	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
16 : Strategic	V	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
17 : Tactical	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
18 : Unintentional	V	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
19 : Burkina Faso	Y	10	1	10	29	7	11	1
20 : Cameroon	Y	1	0	1	2	1	1	0
21 : Chad	V	4	0	5	8	3	1	0
22 : Mali	V	20	6	16	13	4	11	4
23 : Niger	V	13	3	12	14	5	7	2
24 : Nigeria	V	8	2	7	17	8	9	2
25 : Civilians	V	5	1	11	17	4	19	1
26 : NGO workers	V	9	3	2	11	4	6	1
27 : Non-State Actors	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
28 : State-Actors	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 4 Comparing the codes of the human security against the other codes.

		A: Weaponization V	B: Coercive ▼	C: Extortion-Incentivism ▼	D: Psychological Terror ▼	E:Strategic ▼	F: Tactical V	G: Unintentional V
1 : Conflict	V	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
2 : Environment	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
3 : Community	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
4 : Economic	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
5 : Food	V	6	0	1	1	1	0	1
6 : Health	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
7 : Personal	V	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
8 : Political	V	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
9 : Violence	V	4	0	1	2	1	0	0
10 : Non-State Actors	V	2	1	1	1	1	0	0
11 : State Actors	V	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
12 : Burkina Faso	V	6	0	0	1	1	0	0
13 : Cameroon	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
14 : Chad	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
15 : Mali	V	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
16 : Niger	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
17 : Nigeria	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
18 : Civilians	V	3	0	1	1	0	0	0
19 : NGO workers	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
20 : Non-State Actors	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
21 : State-Actors	V	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 5 Comparing the codes of the water weaponization against the other codes.